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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Good afternoon,

          3  and welcome to the City Council's hearing on the

          4  school construction process, in light of recent

          5  allegations of overspending.

          6                 Today the Education Committee is

          7  joined by the Committee on Finance, the Subcommittee

          8  on Landmarks, Public Siting and Maritime Uses, and

          9  by our own Speaker, Speaker Vallone.

         10                 We have come together to discuss the

         11  estimated $1.9 billion shortfall in the Board of

         12  Education's current capital plan for Fiscal Year

         13  2000-2004. Projects included in the plan were

         14  originally estimated at $7.2 billion in 1999.

         15                 It has been reported that because of

         16  the cost overruns, the Board may have to delay the

         17  construction of six new schools in Queens and

         18  postpone most major school renovation.

         19                 A number of explanations have been

         20  offered as to why there is such a shortfall in the

         21  School Construction budget, and all the issues

         22  surrounding the issue of when organizations or

         23  individuals were informed of the overruns, hopefully

         24  we will be able to find some answers to all of our

         25  questions concerning these issues.
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          2                 I also believe that it is very

          3  important to discuss that where we go from here, in

          4  order to ensure that these problems do not repeat

          5  themselves in the next five-year capital plan, let

          6  us face it. When new schools cannot be built, and

          7  needed renovations cannot be made, it is the

          8  children who suffer the most. As long as I have been

          9  the Chair of this Committee, the children have

         10  always been my priority, the entire Committee's

         11  priority, as well as the Council, and as a parent,

         12  and a grandparent, it is our responsibility to

         13  provide a voice for our children.

         14                 I would like to now recognize the

         15  Speaker of the Council, Speaker Vallone.

         16                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you, Madam

         17  Chair. I will have both the other Chairs make their

         18  statements and then I will conclude and ask the

         19  first witness.

         20                 Chair of the Finance Committee. Herb.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         22  Speaker. My colleagues in the Council, Chairs of the

         23  appropriate committees, today the Finance and

         24  Education Committee, together with the Subcommittee

         25  on Landmarks, Public Siting and Maritime Uses will
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          2  devote the afternoon to looking into the School

          3  Construction process in light of recent allegations

          4  of enormous cost overruns of what could amount to

          5  $1.9 billion.

          6                 The current five-year facilities plan

          7  totals about $7 billion and was adopted by the Board

          8  in May 1999 for the period of July 1st, '99 to June

          9  30th, 2004.

         10                 And as we all know, in recent weeks

         11  there has been a spate of media reports concerning

         12  the cost overruns in the Board of Education's

         13  facilities capital plan.

         14                 However, it does seem clear that the

         15  Board, which is responsible for the planning

         16  process, and the School Construction Authority,

         17  responsible for the implementation of the plan's

         18  projects, have known about the shortfall for a

         19  considerable time.

         20                 Yet, as Finance Chair, I have to note

         21  that we have just completed a budget process in

         22  which the Chancellor, School Construction Authority,

         23  both appeared before our Committees in May and

         24  failed to inform us of this serious financial

         25  problem.
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          2                 We repeatedly heard about a potential

          3  $120 million shortfall in operating funds, which the

          4  Chancellor was concerned about - by the way, this is

          5  the Chancellor's testimony, and it was appropriate

          6  for the Chancellor to voice his concerns over that

          7  $120 million shortfall.

          8                 In the area of the Capital Budget, we

          9  repeatedly heard concerns that one contemplated

         10  action could cost the Board $50 million in State

         11  Building Aid - again, it was the right forum for the

         12  Chancellor to voice his concern.

         13                 The majority of the Chancellor's time

         14  was spent on these issues, and although in March the

         15  School Construction Authority did refer to the

         16  probability that more money would be needed, before

         17  the end of the five-year period covered by the plan,

         18  at the Executive Budget hearing in May we were told

         19  that all new construction projects would be

         20  completed within budget.

         21                 No one bothered to tell us that two

         22  years into a $7 billion capital plan, we were almost

         23  $2 billion over budget. It is surprising to think

         24  that anybody could appear at a budgetary oversight

         25  hearing and fail to outline such an enormous problem
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          2  and not ask the body that funds the plant to work

          3  with the agencies to come up with a solution.

          4  Clearly, all of the people assembled in this room

          5  want the same result. We all want safe, quality

          6  school facilities in which our children can learn.

          7  Nobody is saying that this is an easier result to

          8  achieve, and the system is massive and it's aging,

          9  as New York City's public system, not to mention a

         10  system that has been continuously shortchanged by

         11  the State in terms of funding. But this result will

         12  never be achieved if the Board of Ed, the Chancellor

         13  and the School Construction Authority function as

         14  players in a medieval intrigue, operating in shadows

         15  which blur accountability and fearing that

         16  cooperation with, and reliance on, other players may

         17  erode their own powers.

         18                 I'm not saying this is anyone's

         19  intent, but it certainly appears that this is

         20  sometimes the effect.

         21                 I know that the law gives the Board

         22  control over the capital planning process. The

         23  School Construction Authority then takes the lead in

         24  managing projects which are given to them by the

         25  Board. Unfortunately, our participation in this
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          2  process is limited to either giving, or refusing to

          3  give the funding for the projects. But there is

          4  nothing in the law that would prevent the Board from

          5  working with the School Construction Authority in

          6  the planning process, given that the School

          7  Construction Authority's cost estimates have

          8  historically proven more reliable - to create a true

          9  planning process rather than a document that ends up

         10  having little to do with what actually occurs.

         11                 And there is certainly nothing that

         12  would prevent the Board and the School Construction

         13  Authority from regularly updating elected officials

         14  not just by giving them piecemeal project updates,

         15  but by periodically describing the impact that

         16  various problems are having on the entire capital

         17  plan are working together to solve these problems

         18  and prevent them from happening again.

         19                 I hope that today we can get at some

         20  of the systemic reasons behind the capital budget

         21  shortfall and commit to work together to take

         22  concrete steps to minimize future problems and sound

         23  appropriate alarms when such problems first

         24  materialize.

         25                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you, Chair of
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          2  Finance.

          3                 And, finally, Chair of Land Use,

          4  Siting, John Sabini.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Speaker. And I join Chairman Berman and Chairwoman

          7  Wooten, and you, Mr. Speaker, and welcoming you to

          8  this hearing today. The Subcommittee that sites

          9  schools that I have the privilege of chairing has,

         10  as your direction, Mr. Speaker, moved very

         11  expeditiously in making sure that when a school is

         12  to be sited, that we don't create any roadblocks,

         13  and make sure that the final product, the school

         14  classrooms, the seats for our children, are

         15  delivered as on-time and expeditiously as possible,

         16  as long as we have control over them.

         17                 In fact, in the three years prior to

         18  this date, we have passed 35 school sites, which is

         19  a remarkable number, in three years. That is a boom

         20  unprecedented in this City's School Construction

         21  history.

         22                 And the School Construction Authority

         23  certainly has done better than its predecessor at

         24  the Board of Education had done, in trying to

         25  construct seats, and has gotten better at it over
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          2  the years.

          3                 Our experience has shown that once

          4  environmental considerations are put aside and no

          5  surprises on the potential site, the schools move

          6  expeditiously. In fact, there have been some that

          7  have said that part of the cost overrun is that they

          8  have rushed to get the seats done on time, and that

          9  may not be such a bad thing.

         10                 But at a $7.5 billion budget, we have

         11  to ensure that the taxpayers' money is not ever

         12  wasted, so we should come away from this hearing

         13  with a couple of questions answered.

         14                 Why are we in the position we are in

         15  now? Is it cost overruns? Is it inefficiency? Was it

         16  lack of good planning. Why didn't more people know

         17  about this as it was happening, and what system was

         18  in place to prevent that knowledge from getting out?

         19  What are we to do now? What are we to do now about

         20  the fact that we are in a budget cycle, a five-year

         21  budget cycle where schools will have to be put on

         22  the shelf and not constructed? And what changes in

         23  the process have to come about to make things

         24  better?

         25                 For example, we read today about a
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          2  massive overrun in school repairs. Should repairs be

          3  done by someone other than the people running the

          4  School Construction Authority, or by a subdivision

          5  of it on a separate budget line? We need to have

          6  those questions answered, but in the context that we

          7  not rush to judgment and forget that the main goal

          8  that we have today is ensuring that the children of

          9  our City have the seats that are necessary for them

         10  to learn in. We can talk all we want and we should

         11  make sure that money isn't wasted, but at the same

         12  time, we have to ensure that we move forward and

         13  ensure that our children have the proper seats and

         14  that we never, ever in the new millennium see

         15  children doubled up and tripled up and learning in

         16  closets like we saw in the last few years.

         17                 I have been privileged to help move

         18  that agenda along and make sure that doesn't happen,

         19  and I am confident that today we will come out with

         20  at least some of those questions answered under the

         21  leadership of the three committees and you, Mr.

         22  Speaker.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you very much.

         25  I am delighted to see both the Chancellor here and
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          2  the President of the Board of Education, the head of

          3  UFT and people who care about education and the

          4  City.

          5                 And to set the tone of this meeting,

          6  I think that those of you who read the newspapers

          7  this morning saw that the leadership and the

          8  Assembly has now recognized that we do have a crisis

          9  here in the City. There is something wrong with the

         10  bureaucracy called the Board of Education, and

         11  appointed a Blue Ribbon Commission. This is

         12  something that we in the Council have known for a

         13  long time. This is something that the leadership of

         14  the City and of the State to a great extent also

         15  recognizes. And I just want to in setting the tone

         16  here remind everyone that this is very reminiscent

         17  of what happened to the City of New York not too

         18  long ago, where we did not have an honest count, not

         19  because anyone was being deliberately deceitful, but

         20  because the bureaucracy failed to let it rise to the

         21  top, what was wrong with the City of New York, and

         22  what was basically wrong with the City of New York,

         23  it had a bureaucracy called the Board of Estimate

         24  that basically ran the City and kept representative

         25  government from affecting the outcome of our lives,
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          2  and basically what's happening today is that you

          3  have exactly the same crisis that exists with the

          4  Board of the Education. Not, as the Chairperson

          5  Berman indicated, because any people deliberately do

          6  this, but only because the bureaucracy makes it

          7  impossible for an honest count and an honest

          8  truthful explanation of what is going wrong.

          9                 As witness, we have spent a lot of

         10  time in the last few months talking about supposedly

         11  $120 million that wasn't put in the Board of

         12  Education Budget, when in fact it was placed in a

         13  separate budget which is there for the Board of

         14  Education if accountability for the money going into

         15  the classroom was actually given.

         16                 This pales in comparison to $1.9

         17  billion that never came up in the testimony. Now, it

         18  wasn't deliberately withheld, I am sure, from the

         19  members of the Council and the people of the City of

         20  New York, but it was because of the failure to

         21  understand that honest is the best policy, and let's

         22  not play the blame game, let's not say it is any

         23  particular persons fault, let's all recognize that

         24  the bureaucracy has to be changed, accountability

         25  has to be there. We have to know where this money is
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          2  going, because it goes to the most vulnerable

          3  population in the City, those who cannot speak for

          4  themselves, and that's our kids.

          5                 Now, to a great extent, many of our

          6  schools are working in spite of the bureaucracy that

          7  exists, and right now it is a tremendous opportunity

          8  for all of us to admit what's wrong, go forward,

          9  tell the leadership in Albany it is time to give the

         10  Board of Education back to the people of the

         11  City of New York, back where accountability lies,

         12  just the same way, that the bureaucracy and the

         13  Board of Estimate was eliminated and the government

         14  of the City of New York, along with the people who

         15  lived in the City of New York and who knew whether

         16  our schools were working, and who knew whether we

         17  saw cops on our streets, who knew whether our

         18  streets were cleaned, and who knew whether there

         19  were homeless people sleeping on the sidewalk. Leave

         20  it with the people here, with the accountability

         21  here, so they could be judged as to what happens

         22  with the money, and leave the education of our

         23  children to those who should know how to educate,

         24  and that's educators, and what's gotten lost in the

         25  sauce is exactly what happened to this money, and
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          2  why don't we have accountability for it, and how

          3  could it have gotten to this place and let's start

          4  fresh here, figure out what we have, how much we

          5  have, how much it needs to fix our schools, what

          6  ever happened to our capital program, how much of an

          7  expense program do we need, whose responsibility is

          8  it, will we ever get our money from the state, that

          9  even has judge has ordered, will they ever adopt the

         10  budget, will we know what is going to happen to our

         11  City, let's get everybody working on the same level

         12  and I think we can really get somewhere.

         13                 The first witness is Madam President

         14  Ninfa Segarra.

         15                 MS. SEGARRA: Good afternoon. Thank

         16  you, Councilman Berman, Wooten, and Sabini, for

         17  giving me the opportunity to testify before you.

         18                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Just because this is

         19  being recorded, you have to say your name.

         20                 MS. SEGARRA: My name is Ninfa

         21  Segarra, I am President of the Board of Education.

         22                 Thank you, Councilman Berman, Wooten,

         23  and Sabini, for giving me the opportunity to testify

         24  before you today on an important issue facing our

         25  public schools.
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          2                 I want to begin my testimony by

          3  making clear the role of the seven-member Board of

          4  Education in the process of capital planning for

          5  schools.

          6                 As you know, State Legislature sets

          7  out in explicit detail the role of the Board and the

          8  Chancellor in preparing and adopting an educational

          9  facilities capital plan.

         10                 The five-year plan must prioritize

         11  projects, establish design and construction

         12  schedules, contain realistic estimates of what each

         13  program element defined as broad categories, like

         14  new construction and building additions, and each

         15  project, what each project will cost.

         16                 Every one who has witnessed or read

         17  about the developments and approval of these five

         18  year plans, and there have been three since 1988,

         19  knows what a difficult task it is. And unlike other

         20  policy initiatives, because of the dictates of the

         21  statute, the Board itself -- the Board involves

         22  itself in all of its details.

         23                 As a member, I have participated in

         24  the development of two capital plans. In 1999, the

         25  2000-2004 capital plan was adopted, as has been
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          2  previously stated. The process, as we all remember,

          3  was arduous at best. Due to the complexity of

          4  responding to and accommodating the needs of all of

          5  the City's five boroughs, it was very difficult but

          6  we did produce a product, a plan, that gave

          7  communities throughout the City expectations of how

          8  their schools would be modernized and how many new

          9  schools would be built.

         10                 Once the plan was adopted, it became

         11  the responsibility of the Board's Division of School

         12  Facilities to manage and execute the plan, and as

         13  you are aware, the Board's partner in the execution

         14  of the plan is the School Construction Authority.

         15                 Under the legislature, the Board

         16  comes back into the picture when there is a need for

         17  an amendment of the plan. The Legislature foresaw

         18  that a five-year capital plan would undergo changes.

         19  It established a process by which the Chancellor

         20  must submit amendments for Board approval if the

         21  estimated cost of any program elements increases by

         22  more than ten percent from the estimate in the plan,

         23  or if the project starting date is delayed by more

         24  than six months, if the project is relocated, or if

         25  a new project is added to the plan.
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          2                 The Chancellor has the discretion to

          3  submit amendments for other reasons as he sees fit.

          4                 The goal is to permit the Board and

          5  community school boards to monitor and have an

          6  opportunity for input into any significant changes,

          7  and to ensure that the plan is an accurate indicator

          8  of what construction is actually expected to occur,

          9  when it will be done, and what it will cost.

         10                 According to the Moreland Act

         11  Commission Report which they issued in May of 2000,

         12  past Chancellors have failed to submit these

         13  required plans in a timely basis. That Commission

         14  report found that previous school administrations

         15  simply ignored statutory requirements that

         16  significant changes to the plan as originally

         17  approved, must receive public input and must be

         18  given formal approval by the seven-member board

         19  prior to the time of such change is implemented. So,

         20  the issue of a timely amendment is not new.

         21                 I became President of the Board on

         22  April 4th of this year. Soon thereafter, I began a

         23  review of outstanding issues affecting the Board's

         24  policy priorities. I inquired about whether there

         25  was a need for amendment to the current capital plan
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          2  and on June 14th, responding to my request, the

          3  Director of the Division of School Facilities met

          4  with me and gave me a package of materials outlining

          5  a potential shortfall in the capital plan of

          6  approximately 1.5 billion. The package also included

          7  recommendations to address the shortfall, and I will

          8  emphasize, these were draft recommendations:

          9  deferring capital projects in Queens, eliminating

         10  the leasing program for Queens in the Bronx, rolling

         11  over some projects and deferring others.

         12                 The next day I sent all these

         13  materials to the other Board members because I

         14  thought they should be timely and immediately

         15  notified.

         16                 We then immediately scheduled an

         17  executive session presentation by the Chancellor's

         18  staff for the Board set for June 20th, and at that

         19  meeting the Board discussed their fiduciary

         20  responsibilities regarding the plan and raised the

         21  question of whether an audit can be conducted to

         22  analyze how the shortfall occurred.

         23                 The audit results were viewed as

         24  necessary to give parameters for an amendment.

         25                 A week later, on June 27th, I met
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          2  with representatives of the City's Office of

          3  Management and Budget, and representatives from an

          4  audit firm about the possibilities of such an audit.

          5  The following day, on June 28th, the Board's Finance

          6  Committee, chaired by Board members Terri Thompson

          7  and including Board member Jerry Cammarata and as

          8  advisory members, several representatives of major

          9  private sector financial firms began an analysis of

         10  the reasons for the increase in costs, and the

         11  development of recommendations for how to change the

         12  process of facilities planning and construction.

         13                 Ongoing discussions between and among

         14  OMB, Board members and an audit firm ensued about

         15  the scope of the proposed audit, and whether the

         16  City and the Board could be joint clients.

         17                 On July 11th, the Chancellor made a

         18  presentation at the Board meeting on short-term

         19  changes that could be implemented to help guide the

         20  Board in preparing an amendment, and it was

         21  acknowledged that a capital amendment is now legally

         22  compelled.

         23                 To enable the Board to address the

         24  amendment meaningfully, a study by the auditors must

         25  begin. We must be clear about how and why these
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          2  shortfalls occurred, and whether all our statutory

          3  requirements were met.

          4                 We need to restore the credibility to

          5  the program plan for City schools, and we need to do

          6  it immediately.

          7                 As of this morning, I would like to

          8  add there was a conference call amongst the Board

          9  members so that I could update them on the status of

         10  the proposed audit, and that was done this morning.

         11                 I look forward to working with

         12  members of the City Council and all of the

         13  interested parties in a joint effort to ensure that

         14  all New York City public school students, their

         15  parents and their general public that we are

         16  managing this program in an efficient and effective

         17  manner.

         18                 I can assure you that the Board will

         19  be active in monitoring the capital plan, and that

         20  we will be ready to amend our capital plan once the

         21  audit is completed.

         22                 I also intend to work with this Board

         23  to lay out a clear process and new parameters so

         24  that the next Board will not only know what mistakes

         25  were made but will have a clear road map to follow
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          2  as they engage in what is one of the most important

          3  responsibilities of the Board of Ed, preparing and

          4  approving a capital plan for New York City.

          5                 Thank you very much. And on a very

          6  personal note, Mr. Speaker, I am glad Speaker Silver

          7  has seen the light and is considering the

          8  elimination of the Board of Ed.

          9                 SPEAKER VALLONE: With both of us

         10  having the lights on, maybe actually we will be able

         11  to move around and get this thing done.

         12                 I just want to acknowledge to the

         13  rest of the Council members that are here, Council

         14  Members Spigner, Council Member Nelson, Council

         15  Member Foster, Council Member Linares, Council

         16  Member Abel, Council Member Pinkett, Council Member

         17  Moskowitz. It's a full Committee hearing, together

         18  with the various Chairpersons.

         19                 Madam President, you have been a

         20  member of the Board for how long?

         21                 MS. SEGARRA: Since 1990.

         22                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And would you agree

         23  that at least that could be said is that there is a

         24  need for the reform of the bureaucracy?

         25                 MS. SEGARRA: Absolutely. And, in
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          2  particular, in the capital plan. I don't think

          3  anyone, and I think I can speak for the Board and

          4  its Chancellor, we all understand that there must be

          5  a change in how the capital plan is developed, the

          6  expectations that the community should have about

          7  what it is and what it isn't, and a tighter system

          8  for the monitoring of it.

          9                 The Board has moved forward on the

         10  Expense side to have a transparent budget. There is

         11  school-based budgeting, you can go on line and know

         12  what your particular school, what the money is

         13  allocated to and how they use it. We have not moved

         14  forward on the capital side, and we need to do that,

         15  and I don't think there is anyone that denies that

         16  there are some substantial changes that have to be

         17  made to the process.

         18                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Just on the capital

         19  side, as you know, the State, I think did a good

         20  thing when it created the School Construction

         21  Authority, and tried to take the expertise and the

         22  technical aspects of it away from the Board so that

         23  they could bill this and bill these schools and take

         24  care of the structural repairs.

         25                 Are you satisfied that that
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          2  arrangement is working correctly? Has there ever

          3  been a signed agreement between the School

          4  Construction Authority and the Board of Education?

          5                 MS. SEGARRA: I am not aware that we

          6  have ever done a signed agreement. I think it's a

          7  growing process. I think the School Construction

          8  Authority had to get used to the Board as a client,

          9  the Board had to get used to really working with a

         10  partner. I think the current leadership at the

         11  School Construction Authority has done some

         12  remarkable changes, and we see it because schools

         13  are going up, they are going up quicker.

         14                 I think there are still some aspects

         15  of this relationship we still need to iron out to

         16  make it work better. There may be in this review, I

         17  don't want to preclude what our auditors and many

         18  people discussing this on what the kind of changes

         19  that should be made, but I assume that part of it is

         20  both clarifying and maybe even changing a little bit

         21  about the relationship between the Board and School

         22  Construction Authority, but that is still an ongoing

         23  process and a discussion.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Let me just cut to

         25  the quick then.
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          2                 Assuming that the Board of Education

          3  was a group of educators, just educators, concerned

          4  about the education of our children and how to

          5  improve their grades, and assuming that the

          6  authority, like the School Construction Authority,

          7  was responsible for building schools and maintaining

          8  schools, and assuming that whatever money you needed

          9  came through the City of New York, and through the

         10  arrangement that it has with the State of New York,

         11  and the accountability for the money was with the

         12  elected officials who could be held accountable for

         13  what happens to that money, do you think the system

         14  might work a lot better than it works now?

         15                 MS. SEGARRA: Well, I think there are

         16  lots of systems that could work better. It's an open

         17  discussion as to defining the role's next go-around,

         18  and how best to make this capital plan work.

         19                 SPEAKER VALLONE: If you had your way,

         20  how would you do it?

         21                 MS. SEGARRA: I want to put it on a

         22  personal note, because, again, this is an ongoing

         23  discussion --

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I am asking you in

         25  your individual expertise? Not speaking for the
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          2  Board, speaking for yourself.

          3                 MS. SEGARRA: Yes, because I don't

          4  want to speak, because we do have an ongoing

          5  discussion on this. I think that, one, you have to

          6  clarify the roles of the partners. I think there is

          7  still some confusion about who makes what decisions.

          8  I think we need to take better advantage of the

          9  expertise in School Construction Authority.

         10                 The one issue that I would be

         11  concerned about, and we have to figure out where it

         12  lies, is who sets up the priorities, because someone

         13  has to. The toughest job in the development of the

         14  capital plan is establishing priorities. Because the

         15  needs of the system are not going to be met by

         16  solely this capital plan. So, the setting of

         17  priorities is the most difficult task before anyone,

         18  and right now it is the responsibility of a

         19  seven-member Board. Should that Board be eliminated,

         20  that responsibility will move some place else.

         21                 If it still exists, the seven members

         22  still have the --

         23                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Where would you move

         24  that responsibility? You.

         25                 MS. SEGARRA: Well, from my position,
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          2  if you have Mayoral control, then it moves to a

          3  different arena, and it is similar to any other City

          4  agency, and it is done within the priorities of the

          5  overall City and it's done in a joint process

          6  between the Mayor and the City Council.

          7                 While the Board exists, we have a

          8  different structure.

          9                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And the only way it

         10  can be changed is by State Legislature?

         11                 MS. SEGARRA: Absolutely.

         12                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you very much.

         13                 MS. SEGARRA: But there are things

         14  that we can do, and the Chancellor has already

         15  identified some of those, some administrative

         16  changes that can certainly help this process that we

         17  can do without waiting for Albany to act. Because if

         18  we wait for Albany to act, this process will not

         19  improve, and it must improve short-term and right

         20  away.

         21                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I agree.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 Because of the shortness of time, I

         24  want to get the Chancellor up, I want to limit the

         25  questions at the moment to the Chair of our
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          2  Education Committee and to the Chair of Finance.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I only have a

          4  short question, and that interrelates with, this

          5  Committee, as chair of the Education Committee, I am

          6  clear on what the process has been over the years,

          7  what I am not clear on is the fact that what has

          8  transpired between what we thought to be a process

          9  or guidelines that interrelate with where the

         10  responsibilities are.

         11                 Not to backtrack on what has happened

         12  in the past few days a week, is there anything in

         13  place right now, as the new President of the Board

         14  that you have, that would alleviate this kind of

         15  confusion that could take place. Because I recognize

         16  the clock is ticking, we need the space, what is in

         17  place, and I know it is important to have

         18  discussions, but it is also important to have

         19  results.

         20                 MS. SEGARRA: Right. And the result

         21  is, right now projects that are in the pipeline are

         22  moving, so part of it is clarifying that projects

         23  are moving, we have not come to a standstill, what

         24  we are talking about are projects that are later on

         25  in the plan, and the role that the Board is playing
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          2  to be responsible is to have an audit done by an

          3  independent outside firm that will tell us what

          4  happened, because we need that information to then,

          5  as quickly as we can, do an amendment.

          6                 An amendment is the way that you tell

          7  the community within the dollars that we have, now

          8  what should you be expecting, and the Board has been

          9  committed and has been working from the day it

         10  learned about this possible shortfall to take

         11  fiduciary responsibility and look at what is it that

         12  happened, through an audit firm, and then let's

         13  start developing an amendment so that we can let the

         14  public know what they can realistically expect.

         15                 In addition to that some Board

         16  members have asked, and the Chancellor is looking at

         17  it also, is the issue of beyond the capital plan

         18  then, what other ways can we generate revenue,

         19  because we know that all the schools' needs will

         20  certainly not be met within the balance of the

         21  dollars available in the capital plan.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: It is so

         23  unfortunate that we have got caught up in this

         24  situation, but I just want the record to indicate

         25  that this Education Committee has constantly had
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          2  oversight hearings. We have met with both the Board

          3  of Education and the School Construction Authority

          4  on these issues. We have almost begged each one of

          5  them to please be present when the others testify,

          6  and the only disconcern that bothers me is the fact

          7  that this should never have happened, and, secondly,

          8  especially when most of the questions in the

          9  transcripts that I have reviewed in the past 24

         10  hours tell me that the Education Committee has

         11  constantly raised questions as it interrelates on

         12  course, and the process as, you know, when something

         13  happens, nobody wants to know who is responsible, it

         14  was my understanding that those orders moved from

         15  the Central Board of Education to School

         16  Construction Authority, and if there were any

         17  changes, it went back again to the Central Board of

         18  Education, and I am just a little remiss that all of

         19  a sudden that this has not been in actuality taking

         20  place.

         21                 Constantly in our questioning of the

         22  head of the School Construction Authority, he always

         23  let it be known to us if there were any major

         24  changes, or anything that goes on as far as

         25  budgeting of schools, or what is election or
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          2  priority, most certainly the Board of Education was

          3  the one to set that policy.

          4                 Just a little remiss that as time

          5  goes on things are changing, Mr. Speaker, and I am

          6  concerned that we are not passing the blame, but if

          7  we are responsible, and this is not to use a new

          8  precedent, if we are responsible, let's fess up to

          9  it and get it straight now.

         10                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you, Madam

         11  Chair.

         12                 Council Member Berman.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Speaker.

         15                 Madam President, would you be willing

         16  to commit to give the School Construction Authority

         17  a role in the planning process that would allow them

         18  to provide cost estimates for the plan, since their

         19  estimates have been historically more accurate?

         20                 MS. SEGARRA: Well, I will speak as a

         21  member of the Board. Again, I don't want to preclude

         22  the deliberations the Board will have. I think that

         23  is a resource that we should take advantage of.

         24                 My assumption is that we took

         25  advantage to some extent in the past, and that was
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          2  an assumption that I have made that I don't know if

          3  it was honored. I assume that we have in the past

          4  taken advantage of their expertise, but certainly we

          5  should be much more forthright and make sure that

          6  our staff is taking advantage of it.

          7                 This is a very difficult thing to do,

          8  which is to estimate five years down the road what

          9  costs will be, so it is certainly not an easy

         10  process for everyone, and we should expand the

         11  expertise that we use.

         12                 As a matter of fact, the Board in

         13  proceeding now with an audit is going to take

         14  advantage of a number of outside experts to make

         15  sure that we do in the audit as complete a job as

         16  possible.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well,

         18  understanding the amendment process, if, in fact,

         19  the School Construction Authority has probably a

         20  better capacity to do estimates, if they were

         21  involved from the get-go, wouldn't that somehow

         22  either obviate or reduce, or minimize the number of

         23  subsequent amendments that could take place?

         24                 MS. SEGARRA: I would hope that that

         25  would help us in identifying the numbers.
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          2                 In addition to that, we are willing

          3  and have been willing to look even beyond School

          4  Construction Authority for the experts in the field.

          5  At this point the more information we get the

          6  better, because we want to make sure that if we are

          7  going to project out the balance of the capital

          8  plan, that we do it in the most constructive way

          9  possible. Because this always puts the City through

         10  such an agony, I mean the capital plan process,

         11  because you have to distribute it through our five

         12  counties. It is probably one of the hardest things

         13  the Board does, and one of the most difficult things

         14  it does.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         16                 Madam President, do you have any

         17  access to the School Construction Authority's

         18  computer system that provide programmatic and

         19  financial information, or projects in the five-year

         20  plan?

         21                 MS. SEGARRA: I don't.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You do not?

         23                 MS. SEGARRA: I don't, no.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You have no

         25  computer hook-up or availability with the School
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          2  Construction?

          3                 MS. SEGARRA: I learned in the last

          4  few days that there may have been some access on our

          5  floor, that is the Board's floor, and that there was

          6  a computer that at one point may have provided such

          7  access. We have been in the last 24 hours trying to

          8  locate where that computer is. It's not something

          9  that was in the suite of the president's office, and

         10  we are not sure, if it was there we are not sure

         11  where that is now.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Finally, if I

         13  may, when do you contemplate having amendments to

         14  the plan before the Board for consideration?

         15                 MS. SEGARRA: We are working with an

         16  audit firm to try to see what would be possible

         17  before the summer ends that they could produce, but

         18  that, both the scope of the work of the audit, and

         19  what deliverables they could provide to us are still

         20  under discussion. That is the building block for

         21  then making an amendment. We don't want -- we want

         22  to make sure we have enough information to then make

         23  the critical decisions, as you know, that that

         24  amendment requires, which is what do you then use as

         25  your priorities for the balance of the plan?
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          2                 So, right now we don't have a

          3  deadline for the amendment itself, what we are

          4  working on is trying to get an audit done as quickly

          5  and completely as possible.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: With the law

          7  requiring that if there is a 10 percent deviation,

          8  you are required to come in with amendment, do you

          9  know when the last time amendments to the plan were

         10  submitted?

         11                 MS. SEGARRA: This plan has not been

         12  amended?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: When was it

         14  implemented? I mean approved?

         15                 MS. SEGARRA: 1999.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: 1989?

         17                 MS. SEGARRA: 1999.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So there has been

         19  no amendment since then?

         20                 MS. SEGARRA: No, we have not done an

         21  amendment.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: One short question

         25  from Council Member Sabini. Chairman Sabini.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Speaker.

          4                 I am glad, Madam President, that you

          5  have acknowledged that the amendment process is an

          6  important one, as the Moreland Act Commission stated

          7  --

          8                 MS. SEGARRA: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: The question goes

         10  to your remark a few minutes ago about the arduous

         11  process that the capital takes, the five-year plan

         12  takes.

         13                 It always seemed to me that it was a

         14  little odd that we had to choose between the need

         15  for seats, which are essential parts of a child's

         16  education, versus the budget for repairs, and indeed

         17  we have a lot of older buildings that are in need of

         18  repairs, but it just seemed to me that that

         19  trade-off was a rather odd one. You can't have a

         20  child in school unless he has a seat, repairs are

         21  important, and they can't always be deferred, but

         22  they are essentially different things.

         23                 Wouldn't it be better if the Board

         24  had a very separate pot of money, separate and

         25  distinct pot for repairs and seats so that you
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          2  wouldn't have to trade seats for repairs and maybe

          3  older buildings in one borough wouldn't be fighting

          4  over overcrowded buildings in another borough?

          5                 MS. SEGARRA: Council Member, we have

          6  a fixed pot, and within that fixed pot the capital

          7  plan, again, the Board ends up having to do

          8  priorities.

          9                 We have certainly parts of our City

         10  that have tremendous capacity needs. We also have

         11  parts of our cities where their schools are so old,

         12  and we need such -- we are not talking about minor

         13  repairs, we are talking about major capital

         14  improvement, and we are five counties and one city,

         15  and we want to make sure that the needs of

         16  youngsters throughout the City are met.

         17                 And when you end up having to weight

         18  priorities, and you try to make sure that both, in

         19  particular the safety needs of schools that need

         20  capital improvements are met and that the seats are

         21  added on and you have to try to meet both, because

         22  they really are both difficult scenarios and

         23  necessary ones.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: I just think it

         25  would be less arduous, that was the word that you
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          2  used, if we didn't have to make --

          3                 MS. SEGARRA: But we do. I mean --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: -- Quite the

          5  decisions in that context.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MS. SEGARRA: We are clear we have to

          8  make those decisions in that fixed pot.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Thank you.

         10                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you, Madam

         11  President.

         12                 I ask that you leave staff available,

         13  because I would like to bring the Chancellor up, and

         14  whoever else you want to bring up with yourself,

         15  Harold.

         16                 Chancellor, just identify yourself,

         17  for the record, and whoever else is with you.

         18                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Harold Levy. I am

         19  Chancellor to the New York City Schools. And with me

         20  to my left is Tony Shorris, who is one of our Deputy

         21  Chancellors.

         22                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you.

         23                 Do you have a statement?

         24                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I was going to make

         25  a brief statement, and then turn it over to Tony to
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          2  walk through -- Deputy Chancellor Shorris, to walk

          3  through a presentation, which I think might answer

          4  many of the questions that you raised, Mr. Speaker.

          5                 Let me just start off in a very

          6  general level. It seems to me there are two issues

          7  before the committees that are meeting here, one is

          8  better reporting, and one is better planning.

          9                 On the planning side, I think that

         10  President Segarra put it aptly, and that is the

         11  capital plan process is the most difficult one and

         12  it is quite arduous. The Board makes its capital

         13  plan estimates on the basis of what has gone before.

         14  In the recent past, what has been the cost on a per

         15  square foot basis for the cost of the most recent

         16  projects. I am just looking at capacity for the

         17  moment, that's the one we are focused on most. In

         18  each of those cases, as I understand how these plans

         19  have been put forward in the past, they make a

         20  calculation as to what was the cost, and then they

         21  add eight percent. Let me tell you what that eight

         22  percent has done.

         23                 You should have in front of you a

         24  blue document which sets out much of the

         25  presentation, I am just going to focus on one page
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          2  for the moment, page four.

          3                 The roll-overs from plan to plan are

          4  quite common. In the first five-year plan, which was

          5  enacted in October of '89, and was in place from '90

          6  to '94, the amount of the plan was $4.3 billion. The

          7  roll-over at the end of the plan was $560 million.

          8  That's the amount that needed to be done in the next

          9  five-year plan, because it didn't get done in the

         10  last one, overages.

         11                 The second plan is '95 to '99, you

         12  will recall this is the one that started at $3.4

         13  billion and then the Mayor withdrew some money and

         14  went down to 2.9 billion and then it went back up to

         15  4.9 billion and then it was quite chaotic set of

         16  budget changes that left the planning process

         17  somewhat less than clear. The rollover there was 1.1

         18  billion.

         19                 In the third plan that was adopted in

         20  May of '99, and has not yet been amended, let me

         21  point out that the second five-year plan was not

         22  amended either, until after it was done.

         23                 In the May, the one that was adopted

         24  in May of '99, the one that we are currently in,

         25  which we just finished the second year of, that one
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          2  was for 6.9 billion, and the projection, as you

          3  heard President Segarra say, is 1.5 billion.

          4                 In each of these cases the projects

          5  didn't get dropped, the projects got rolled over

          6  into the next plan, so I think it is important to at

          7  least take note, what's going on here is they are

          8  not being done as quickly, but they are being pushed

          9  out.

         10                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Just to clarify on

         11  that alone, and to give an opportunity to explain,

         12  when you are talking about rolling over, you are

         13  talking about work that remains to be done, correct?

         14                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: And that wasn't done

         15  within the budget.

         16                 SPEAKER VALLONE: And the last one,

         17  May 1999, which is supposed to go to 2004, what you

         18  are saying is we are already $1.5 billion that you

         19  can't do.

         20                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Actually, what I am

         21  saying is that we haven't yet gone over a dollar,

         22  but what we are doing is we are pushing out 1.5

         23  billion worth into the next plan.

         24                 SPEAKER VALLONE: After approximately

         25  a year and a half?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Two years.

          3                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Two years. Isn't

          4  that rather dramatic, to say the least?

          5                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I think it is

          6  dramatic and I think that the -- and I will address

          7  that.

          8                 Yes, I think it is dramatic. The two

          9  issues, better planning, better reporting, the only

         10  point I am trying to make at looking at the series

         11  of plans over ten years, 12 years, is that the

         12  problem that we address today is not a new one.

         13                 SPEAKER VALLONE: It's the magnitude

         14  of the problem.

         15                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I beg to differ.

         16  Actually the percentages are quite stark here,

         17  particularly if you compare the 1.1 billion to

         18  either the 2.8 or the 3.4.

         19                 SPEAKER VALLONE: But that's over a

         20  four-year period.

         21                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I say, again, the

         22  projection here is also over a five-year period.

         23                 I think you are misunderstanding the

         24  numbers. The numbers at the end are all presumed to

         25  be over five years. In any event --
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: You are going to

          3  have a further explanation of this and then I will

          4  --

          5                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I am not disagreeing

          6  with the proposition that there has been a dramatic

          7  rise in the cost over what the plan was. I am making

          8  a different observation, and that is, you have the

          9  same thing in the prior three plans, or the prior

         10  two plans.

         11                 And the other point I would make is,

         12  I think it is for the same reason. I think it is for

         13  the same reason in each plan.

         14                 Originally when the SCA was set up,

         15  they came up with an eight percent factor of what

         16  happens if prices move away, what happens if prices

         17  go up. And the experience in all three plans is it

         18  has been dramatically more than eight percent. I

         19  think this eight percent number is unjustified, and

         20  indeed when the plans were put together I think

         21  whoever came up with the eight percent number, did

         22  not do us a service because it simply gives the

         23  appearance that every time there is a new plan you

         24  are way over.

         25                 The good side is it allows people to
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          2  claim and look at all the tremendous number of

          3  projects we are doing for the money that is at hand,

          4  but in fact it doesn't get done, and at the end they

          5  just roll it over.

          6                 In the last plan, Mr. Speaker, there

          7  were no amendments until June, seven days before the

          8  plan went out of existence.

          9                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Which is contrary to

         10  the law.

         11                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Absolutely contrary

         12  to the law. And when I was chair of the Bar

         13  Committee on Education, one of the recommendations

         14  we had, indeed two of them, were that there be

         15  annual plan amendments, or indeed more regular plan

         16  amendments, and that there be a memorandum of

         17  understanding, between the SCA and the Board, which

         18  is statutorily required, and neither of those things

         19  have taken place, and both of them should, and I

         20  would be happy to address both of them when we get

         21  to the questions.

         22                 The only point I am trying to make

         23  here is, there were two issues, one is better

         24  planning, one is better reporting. The better

         25  planning piece I think is clear, and we need to do
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          2  that, and if we don't do that, there will be an

          3  overage after the next five-year plan, and it will

          4  get pushed into the following one.

          5                 It isn't that the projects won't get

          6  done, it's not as though they fall off the table and

          7  never happen, that's never happened before. What

          8  happens is they don't get done in five years, and

          9  that is a tragedy. The reason why it is a tragedy is

         10  when the Board of Education two and a half years

         11  ago, came to the Council and the Mayor and the State

         12  Legislature and said we need more capital money,

         13  indeed they asked for 11 billion, they only got

         14  seven, so their perception of what was a tolerable

         15  level of need they could ask for was 11, and given

         16  their druthers and the reports they had they would

         17  have asked for more than that. The money that was

         18  set aside was seven, and that was with the hope of

         19  doing a certain number of new projects and new

         20  seats, and now we are looking at doing less, and the

         21  reason we are looking at doing less, I would suggest

         22  to you, is prices have gone through the roof, and I

         23  will address that.

         24                 A separate issue is the issue of

         25  reporting.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Chancellor,

          3  may I just get a clarification, there is something I

          4  don't understand. I apologize.

          5                 On the issue of the rollovers, were

          6  all of these rollovers, for the October '89 plan,

          7  '94 plan and the May '99 plan that ultimately is a

          8  rollover that we are currently interested in, is

          9  this as a consequence of cost overruns, or are they

         10  as a consequence of the fact that some projects just

         11  couldn't be reached and therefore other plans and

         12  other programs were substituted.

         13                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Overruns.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All overruns.

         15                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So then

         17  effectively, if there were overruns, every one of

         18  the subsequent plans started with a deficit?

         19                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Yes. And they got

         20  pushed into the next plan. That's exactly right, Mr.

         21  Chairman.

         22                 There is the better reporting issue,

         23  and the better planning issue. The better reporting

         24  issue, I say to you, is also a consequence of in

         25  part the way this is structured.
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          2                 I thought President Segarra was quite

          3  fair in the way she said the plan, the capital plan

          4  amendment process is arduous. It is indeed arduous.

          5  It requires or permits hearings in 32 community

          6  school districts, it requires comment by 32

          7  community school district boards, and that problem

          8  continues throughout, so that every time an

          9  amendment would be made it would be the same kind of

         10  issue, unlike the way the City budget capital

         11  planning process works, which is, as you know, three

         12  times a year they shift the number, which is as it

         13  should be. That's how you run a business. This is

         14  locked in for five years.

         15                 The task that is given to Patricia

         16  Zedalis, the Head of the Division of School

         17  Facilities, is a near well impossible task. Five

         18  years from now tell me how much it will cost to put

         19  a building in a place that we haven't yet decided

         20  that will accommodated 800 students. That's her

         21  task. I don't think that is a doable task. I think

         22  the proposition that it can be done except with

         23  crude formulas that are going to be wrong by 20 and

         24  30 percent and more is to be expected in my

         25  judgment. And the consequence here is we are going
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          2  to be left every five years, or in this case when a

          3  Chancellor says I want to do a plan amendment, I

          4  don't want this to happen at the end of the plan.

          5  The reason why we are sitting here, I remind you, is

          6  because I said I want to do a plan amendment.

          7                 The reason why Patricia Zedalis met

          8  with Board President Segarra, she had a document

          9  which proposed, in a staff level had changes to be

         10  made and let's not do these and let's do these

         11  instead, was because I had said months earlier,

         12  let's do a plan amendment. And the reason why we

         13  have drafts of a memorandum of understanding going

         14  back and forth with the SCA, is because I had said

         15  within the first six months of getting here I want

         16  to have a memorandum of understanding. It is still

         17  not done, but let me tell you, we at least have

         18  drafts going back and forth, that had not happened

         19  in the first eight years of this arrangement.

         20                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Chancellor, we

         21  couldn't run the City -- we have a capital budget,

         22  as you know, of $7 billion a year, we also plan

         23  ahead four years, and we have to amend it every

         24  single year because prices go up or down or

         25  accordingly; how could you run a board or a business
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          2  unless you face the real world of reality, how could

          3  this exist?

          4                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I think you are

          5  absolutely right, and the need to have the

          6  information and make it more loudly available and

          7  perhaps raise the red flag is perhaps one I think is

          8  subject to criticism. But the piece that also is

          9  squarely on the table is that the prices have moved,

         10  and the consequences that we have a very different

         11  environment in which to do these bids and plans than

         12  we did when Patricia and Milo Riverso --

         13                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I don't want this

         14  silence to be interpreted as assent.

         15                 Obviously when we do our budget we

         16  also plan for inflation, we also plan for rise in

         17  prices, who in their right mind wouldn't plan that?

         18                 How could you possibly say that cost

         19  overruns would justify this kind of a deficit?

         20                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Oh, I agree with

         21  you. And that is why an eight percent, an eight

         22  percent contingency is so absurd.

         23                 You are right, you need a contingency

         24  that makes sense. Eight percent doesn't, and the

         25  experience here is, you know, I would think 25, 35,
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          2  some kind of a serious number.

          3                 If you are buying a co-op or buying a

          4  house, and trying to decide now how much is this

          5  going to cost me five years from now to buy or to

          6  build, I mean anyone who tries to make that judgment

          7  is going to necessarily have to amend their planning

          8  quite regularly. Maybe it's three times a year,

          9  maybe it's once a year, but the thing you can't do

         10  is make no changes and accept that, and the cutoff

         11  here is ten percent, it should have been done

         12  earlier.

         13                 I will say to you simply this, in the

         14  last five-year plan, the only amendment, the only

         15  substantive amendment, the only amendment was an

         16  all-in amendment done seven days before the end of

         17  the plan, and that truly leaves you as Council

         18  members with nowhere to go.

         19                 Here, if you want to change this, now

         20  that you know, you can amend the City's capital plan

         21  and say to the Board, you are right, we need to

         22  build these buildings now. And I would encourage you

         23  to do that. I mean, I have been an advocate for more

         24  -- I mean, as you know, Mr. Speaker, I have been an

         25  advocate for more buildings and more classrooms for
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          2  five years. I mean, we tried together, you and I, to

          3  get a bond issue passed, and that was because we

          4  knew then, as we know now, there are children in

          5  Queens, 30,000 of them, who are not able to sit, you

          6  know, get their own seats, and we are talking about

          7  year-round schooling, not because we wanted to do a

          8  summer program, but because we don't have the space.

          9                 We had to give back $30 million this

         10  year, because we didn't have the ability to get

         11  class size reduction because we didn't have the

         12  space.

         13                 Now, no one here is suggesting, I

         14  don't think, certainly it hasn't come to my

         15  attention, that there was corruption, the money was

         16  wasted, what's happened here is dramatic rise, and

         17  inadequate reporting, and on those scores, I think

         18  the reporting and the planning and the adequate

         19  numbers I think, whether it is a bureaucracy or the

         20  chancellor or the SCA, there is plenty of blame to

         21  go around, but what we need to do I think is not

         22  lose sight of the bottom line.

         23                 You said to me, you know, think about

         24  this like a businessman, stop talking like a

         25  Chancellor. And my answer to you is you are right,
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          2  and what we need to do is focus on what is the

          3  bottom line, what are we doing for the kids, you

          4  know. We can all point blame, I am not going to do

          5  that, I am going to stick with where do we go from

          6  here.

          7                 So, I have wandered off of this and

          8  what I would like to do is get to the presentation

          9  because I think it will answer some of your

         10  questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: May I just

         12  interject something?

         13                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Of course.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: All these

         15  mandated plans that go all the way back to 1989, if

         16  they continue to be presented as a concept for

         17  moving ahead in the construction plans, then we are

         18  talking about a worthless document if we are not

         19  reestimating what has not been done from plan A to B

         20  to C and we will make a request, having a cost going

         21  up, if you are rolling over 1989's money in

         22  2000-2004, moving over all the different kinds of

         23  plans that you had in place and constantly questions

         24  being raised as to if you have enough money,

         25  wouldn't the most sensible thing to do is to
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          2  reestimate that that have not been implemented from

          3  Plan A?

          4                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: And in fact,

          5  projects that are moved into the next one are

          6  reestimated at the time of the movement, not before,

          7  and that's your point and you are right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Because what you

          9  are in essence asking for in the capital budget plan

         10  is a farce, because you -- and don't take it

         11  personally.

         12                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I am agreeing with

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Don't take it

         15  personally, I am just making a comment.

         16                 It would seem to me if you know that

         17  we were running over in '89 through 1994 through

         18  1999, up to this point 2000-2004, it would seem to

         19  me the most sensible thing to do was to reestimate

         20  what you was not able to accomplish so we wouldn't

         21  be in this predicament. And it's really kind of

         22  inexcusable.

         23                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I agree. And I think

         24  the law undermines rationality, or in any event, let

         25  me if I may --
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          2                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I think you better

          3  get your presentation or you will never get to it.

          4                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: You are very kind.

          5                 I am going to turn to Deputy

          6  Chancellor Shorris to work through the overview of

          7  the presentation.

          8                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Just identify

          9  yourself again for the record.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Thank you.

         11  I am Tony Shorris, I am Deputy Chancellor at the

         12  Board of Education.

         13                 If I could, let me just give you an

         14  overview of what we are going to go through. I will

         15  go through it relatively quickly, there should be

         16  copies in front of the members to take a look at as

         17  we go through if this is difficult to read, and then

         18  obviously we will go through questions at the end.

         19                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Tony, it may be

         20  worthwhile, I know that you know most of the

         21  members, but to just describe your familiarity with

         22  City budget process.

         23                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Just to point out, I

         24  am happy to point out that we have been joined by

         25  Adolpho Carrion, who has been unavoidably detained
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          2  for several meetings.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Deputy Chancellor

          5  Shorris has had two other jobs in budget.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I was

          7  Deputy Budget Director for the City for a number of

          8  years, many, many years ago, many, many years ago,

          9  some of you remember many years ago.

         10                 Let me just tell you what I would

         11  like to go through very quickly. The key roles, I

         12  just would like to talk to who is playing what role

         13  in the Administration of this whole thing, the

         14  development of the plan, how this plan came about,

         15  as best we understand it, the changes, what took

         16  place since the plan was adopted, what it means

         17  right now, the impact, what issues it raises, and

         18  finally talk about some recommendations that the

         19  Chancellor proposed to the Board recently that the

         20  President referred to, that are at least in the

         21  short term designed to deal with some of the issues

         22  that come up.

         23                 Well, I will just take you through

         24  the paper, while we are looking through that. The

         25  legal framework, which is the third page of the
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          2  presentation that we are looking at.

          3                 By law, as we have talked about, the

          4  Chancellor must develop a capital plan with the

          5  input of all of the community school boards, subject

          6  to hearings and subject ultimately, of course, to

          7  the final approval and amendment by the Board.

          8                 The plan needs to include some big

          9  chunks, some big program elements in it as defined

         10  by law, new construction, building additions and so

         11  on, the categories that Council Member Sabini

         12  mentioned are often in juxtaposition to each other.

         13  And that plan and any plan amendments have to go

         14  through quite, as has been noted, an arduous

         15  process, if it is changed at any time, including

         16  again return to all of the community school boards

         17  for their comment and input.

         18                 The fourth page of what we are

         19  looking raises again the rollovers that the

         20  Chancellor referred to, and you can meanwhile

         21  examine Microsoft's technology on the Board --

         22                 SPEAKER VALLONE: I told you this

         23  bureaucracy has to be eliminated, but go ahead.

         24                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: We are talking about

         25  Microsoft now or?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: The

          3  rollovers the Chancellor has mentioned and I think

          4  has gone through on each of the plans have been

          5  rather substantial. They reflect the value of work

          6  that was not able to be implemented during that

          7  period of the plan.

          8                 Each of these plans fully encumbered

          9  all of the money that had been set aside for it. So,

         10  the money, the 4.3 billion, 4.9 billion, was fully

         11  encumbered, it just wasn't enough to do that work

         12  that was listed here, and hence that work, as was

         13  pointed out by one of the members, put the next plan

         14  in effect in a hole, as this plan was, with $1.1

         15  billion of work included from the prior plan, that

         16  had to be done before we could even start moving or

         17  advancing our program.

         18                 Some of the key players in this, I

         19  think is obviously clear and we can explore it some

         20  more, School Facilities, the Division of the Board

         21  of Education, charged with our School Facilities, it

         22  evaluates the needs along with the superintendents

         23  of the districts based on demography and the

         24  instructional priorities, and we will talk about

         25  some of those because those matter. It develops a
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          2  capital plan based on a consulting engineer's

          3  condition assessments. So, an engineer goes out and

          4  looks at all of the assessments, all of the

          5  buildings, all 1,100 of them, does an assessment,

          6  what do you need to do, we try and base the plan on

          7  that assessment. It monitors and works with the SCA,

          8  and approves all scope changes, or changes in cost,

          9  of more than ten percent to any project. So, some

         10  clarity on that. Whenever the SCA believes that a

         11  project is going to go over plan or over budget, it

         12  comes to the School Construction Authority for

         13  approval.

         14                 The SCA in turn is fundamentally the

         15  program manager, although I would like to mention

         16  there are a couple of other folks that actually

         17  manage parts of the Board's program. The City has an

         18  agency, design and construction, that does part of

         19  the program, and the state has an agency that also

         20  does part of our program, and we will talk about

         21  some of that, but primarily SCA implements that

         22  Board's program, recommends scope changes.

         23                 OMB, the City's budget office,

         24  approves all line project, every big new

         25  construction project is individually approved, and
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          2  any change, even a dollar, has to be approved by

          3  OMB, through a CP, the issuance of a CP, or an

          4  amended CP, the bureaucracies for the language of

          5  OMB's approval. And also has to approve any change

          6  in the lump sums, the big chunks, for rehab; and

          7  finally, those of the other two agencies I

          8  mentioned, the Power Authority and the City Division

          9  of Design and Construction that do work.

         10                 A key issue, how was the plan

         11  developed? Were those estimates plausible or

         12  inplausible at the outset? Let me just tell you very

         13  briefly how they were developed.

         14                 Pretty simply, when it came to

         15  building new schools, as the Chancellor mentioned,

         16  many new schools are in this program without a site

         17  for them being located, so the only way to develop

         18  an estimate for those schools was to have a formula.

         19  The formula was not too complicated. The SCA knew

         20  what new schools were costing at the time plans were

         21  built, because they had bids, the bids were running

         22  a certain number, $300 a foot, 30,000 a seat, how

         23  ever you figure it. Based on the actual costs of the

         24  projects at the time the plan was put together,

         25  those costs, inflated by an inflation rate that OMB
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          2  uses for all City capital projects, the Board

          3  doesn't invent it, it's a Citywide OMB number, and

          4  adding an eight percent contingency which is

          5  acknowledged as problematic in this case but

          6  nonetheless was the standard that the SCA and the

          7  Board had used, that was how the estimates for new

          8  projects were developed, and that is what the plan

          9  was based on, as it had been in prior plans as well.

         10                 For rehab projects, essentially

         11  renovations of existing buildings, of the cost per

         12  unit, square foot of a roof, wires of electrical

         13  wire, et cetera, an outside consultant that the

         14  Board and the SCA together retained, were used along

         15  with the surveys, the condition surveys I mentioned

         16  were done at all of the buildings.

         17                 Again, the contingency was added, in

         18  this case ten percent, and an inflation rate, and

         19  that's how those estimates were developed.

         20                 They, I think in good faith,

         21  reflected what bids were at that time and are,

         22  frankly, no longer.

         23                 What's changed? Three big things. The

         24  market has changed. We are in a much more

         25  competitive bidding environment, which we will talk
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          2  about. The site conditions, the sites that the Board

          3  builds on are becoming increasingly difficult,

          4  frankly, all the easy sites to build on have been

          5  built on. Now we are doing the tougher sites.

          6                 And, finally, there are programmatic

          7  changes, changes in the scope of work.

          8                 On the first issue, on the more

          9  competitive bidding environment, I think there is

         10  little dispute, but I think if the members of the

         11  Committee wouldn't mind, if we could ask, I have on

         12  here Steve Spinola, the President of the Real Estate

         13  Board, and a quote from Steve on what has happened

         14  to construction costs, but it might be better if I

         15  can defer, if it would be all right to ask Steve to

         16  speak briefly on what has happened to private sector

         17  construction costs outside of the Board context.

         18                 MR. SPINOLA: Thank you, Tony.

         19                 My name is Steve Spinola, I am

         20  President of the Real Estate Board. I am here only

         21  to talk about the issue of cost and where costs have

         22  gone over the last two years. What is on the screen

         23  is something that I have said at speeches. I can

         24  give you three examples of where costs have gone. A

         25  building that was built in midtown that was
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          2  completed about two years ago, a duplicate building

          3  was planned and cost estimated, and over an 18-month

          4  period that increase in cost was 32 percent. And

          5  that period that we are talking about was basically

          6  1999 into the Year 2000.

          7                 I am told that another residential

          8  building, that the hard cost was at $107 a foot,

          9  that building was completed three years ago, if you

         10  bid out a new residential building today, the cost

         11  would be about $176 a square foot.

         12                 So, the costs have gone up

         13  traumatically, and we were not quite sure the

         14  reasons for that, other than that there has been a

         15  tremendous demand for manpower, there has been

         16  significant labor shortages, unions have brought in

         17  union personnel from outside of the City to help

         18  deal with that problem.

         19                 The good news is that I am told over

         20  the last four months, we have seen actual signs that

         21  construction cost is starting to take a drop and

         22  that it may actually come down a little bit over the

         23  next few months and has come down from the last 18

         24  months. But we had a period of time, basically 1999

         25  to the middle of 2000, where costs clearly went up
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          2  between 30 and 50 percent, the cost of a roof,

          3  putting a roof on, basically went up close to 50

          4  percent during that period of time.

          5                 That's the only information that I

          6  really have. There clearly was a cost, our owners

          7  recognized it, what they had, maybe had more

          8  flexibility than the Board of Ed in terms of

          9  understanding if they bid out a project and found

         10  out that the cost was higher than what they had

         11  estimated, they then made some decisions whether or

         12  not to go ahead with the project or to change the

         13  material or to seek out different bids, and they

         14  also, the truth is even though the School

         15  Construction Authority has made major ground at

         16  improving the way they function, there are still

         17  contractors who would prefer to deal only with the

         18  private sector, and that limits the School

         19  Construction Authority's ability to be competitive

         20  with some other jobs.

         21                 So, I don't think I have anything

         22  more to add on that, other than we -- I will say

         23  that for a period of eight months, almost every week

         24  I got a call complaining about the high cost of

         25  where construction was going in the City of New
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          2  York, and it was a serious problem.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Spinola, if I

          4  may. I appreciate your testimony, I will, however,

          5  tell you that no one here questions that there has

          6  been a significant increase in the course of

          7  construction. I think we all agree with that, I

          8  think our opening statements took care of that

          9  issue, so while I appreciate your testimony, it's

         10  something that we all agree with.

         11                 I think the question is, the

         12  operation of the plan, the management of the plan,

         13  the awareness of the plan, the testimony concerning

         14  the details of the plan, and how that impacts upon

         15  the ability to be able to complete the plan.

         16                 Having said that, if I may, I would

         17  like to ask you a question, sir.

         18                 When did you become -- well, first of

         19  all, how much is the cost for new construction for a

         20  square foot, hard and soft?

         21                 MR. SPINOLA: Well, if you just -- it

         22  is easy to do hard costs. As I said, the number for

         23  a new residential building, and schools are

         24  different, obviously, in terms of what the costs

         25  would be, but today it is about $176 a foot, is the
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          2  latest number that I received. Five years ago it was

          3  about $107 a foot. It's hard, hard costs. The costs

          4  of financing is different and the cost of your

          5  architect and other --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Do you happen to

          7  know what the cost now would be for school

          8  construction --

          9                 MR. SPINOLA: No, I do not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: When did you

         11  become aware, by the way, of the current -- you

         12  testified as to the current cost increase, how long

         13  have you been aware of these increases?

         14                 MR. SPINOLA: I would say the middle

         15  to the end of 1999, I was getting complaints about

         16  the skyrocketing costs of construction, and clearly,

         17  at the beginning of 2000 we were actually speaking

         18  to contractors and labor leaders about the need to

         19  find new labor people to come in and do the work to

         20  try to keep the costs down.

         21                 So, we clearly knew about this a year

         22  to two years ago in terms of where the numbers were

         23  going.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So that anybody

         25  who would be in the business of construction or
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          2  managing construction would in fact have known

          3  considerably long ago that there were going to be

          4  increases, should have prepared for it?

          5                 MR. SPINOLA: My members clearly knew

          6  about it when they were doing their jobs. Some of

          7  them were surprised when they bid it out, but they

          8  knew about it before they signed the contract.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         10  much, Steve.

         11                 MR. SPINOLA: And I appreciate the

         12  fact that you understood the numbers and because I

         13  don't have any comments about what else happened

         14  during the process, I am happy to leave that to the

         15  Chancellor.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Unless you feel

         17  compelled to testify about it --

         18                 MR. SPINOLA: Absolutely not.

         19                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I'm going to leave

         20  with him.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Nice try,

         22  Chancellor.

         23                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I just want to say

         24  how much I appreciate Mr. Spinola's being here. I

         25  know that the Real Estate Board has other tasks, but
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          2  I thought it was important for the Committee to hear

          3  firsthand the enormous price increases that all

          4  construction has been subject to in this period.

          5                 Tony.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: And then

          7  just the rest of the comments on this page and on

          8  the next echos some of what Steve mentioned. As the

          9  Chairman mentioned, this is no secret that

         10  construction costs have risen. We just thought we

         11  needed to mention it here, because when this

         12  initially came out there was some question as to why

         13  did these prices go up. The answer is, now I think

         14  obvious to everyone who has looked, obvious to the

         15  members of the Council, they grew for us as they

         16  grew for everyone else. So, I just want to take that

         17  issue off the table.

         18                 And, finally, we have some cost

         19  estimators here, the last -- page ten I want to

         20  mention, we asked a actual cost estimator who does

         21  this for a living about particular elements that are

         22  important parts of schools that went up. As

         23  distinct, Steve talked about residential buildings

         24  and office buildings, schools are heavily made up of

         25  steel, masonry, electrical and mechanical, that is
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          2  half the cost to the school, you can see what those

          3  prices have done and it really gives you an idea of

          4  the drama of what we are dealing with.

          5                 Finally, on terms of the competitive

          6  bidding environment, on the next page, page 11, as

          7  Steve mentioned, we are not at the top of the food

          8  chain when it comes to the bidding environment.

          9  Public sector projects are often less desirable to

         10  contractors, and so we often are the first to feel

         11  the squeeze and the last to feel the softening.

         12                 Our projects, school projects built

         13  by the SCA, were in no complicated sites, no site

         14  condition changes, nothing strange, just plain bid

         15  environment, probably went up by 25, 27, 30 percent.

         16                 But what is interesting here, as I

         17  mentioned, our projects are built by more than just

         18  the SCA, the City's Department of Design and

         19  Construction also does projects for us, and those

         20  projects have also risen very dramatically, actually

         21  more dramatically, although there is a reason for

         22  that, they build our most complicated or most risky

         23  projects which are exterior rehabs. Those have gone

         24  up even more so, and the Power Authority which does

         25  our boiler conversions similarly at large, so it
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          2  isn't even an SCA issue, everybody who builds have

          3  large cost increases.

          4                 Finally, as was mentioned by one of

          5  the Council Members, the fact that we were moving

          6  the program more quickly, which is a good thing, as

          7  far as the kids are concerned, actually makes this

          8  problem worse, because you have more projects on the

          9  street, the same number of contractors that drives

         10  prices up.

         11                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I just want to add

         12  the comment on that, that this is, it compounds the

         13  problem in virtue of the fact that we are trying to

         14  do so much. The School Construction Authority today

         15  has some 30 new projects, and Milo Riverso is here,

         16  and can comment more about that. But they have 30

         17  projects out on the street currently being built.

         18                 There is no other builder in the City

         19  who has anything comparable to that. The combination

         20  of a hot construction market, together with our

         21  pushing as hard as we have to stay ahead of the

         22  plan, to have as much built, puts an additional

         23  strain on prices, and, you know, the Chairman

         24  pointed out that we have fewer people bidding for

         25  the School Construction Authority than we might
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          2  want. Milo Riverso and I, I mean I actually went

          3  through the bid sheets, and there are about 12 or so

          4  bidders who routinely bid on our new projects, about

          5  12 bidders. If it were more, one would imagine that

          6  the numbers would come down, and I think we have

          7  done a good job at increasing the number of bidders,

          8  but just as a matter of simple economics, if you

          9  don't have more bidders, the likelihood is you are

         10  going to constrain their capacity.

         11                 Tony.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Let me

         13  just mention the final two points that drive cost

         14  increases. The siting issue. Most of the proposed

         15  new school sites never had schools, in that plan

         16  adopted two years ago, had no sites. They were

         17  concepts - let's put a school in this district. That

         18  makes it almost impossible to do a serious cost

         19  estimate.  When there isn't even a site in hand, no

         20  private developer would ever be caught dead trying

         21  to finance without even having a site in mind.

         22                 Not only that, there is relatively

         23  little provision in the plan for how increasingly

         24  odd our sites have become, smaller and smaller lots,

         25  more and more complicated environmental issues, as
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          2  we go down the food chain of getting less and less

          3  attractive real estate.

          4                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Let me put specifics

          5  on that. If you are building on a flat site, which

          6  is cleared and near services, it is much easier and

          7  cheaper than if you are say building on a hillside

          8  where you have got to build up the foundation, or if

          9  you are building -- a good example, or if you are

         10  building far away from any facilities, and you have

         11  got to put in a road, like Creedmoore, or you have

         12  got to put in all of these sewers and electricity,

         13  all that makes it more expensive.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: The other

         15  thing is, just another thing to point out, not only

         16  are the complex sites driving up costs, but smaller

         17  sites, just physically smaller sites drive up costs

         18  as well, and on the next page that compounds with

         19  another issue, which is that as a programmatic

         20  matter, the Board is trying to build smaller

         21  schools. That is a policy direction of the Board,

         22  and we think it is good, pedagogically that drives

         23  up costs, because in many cases the same

         24  infrastructure for fewer kids.

         25                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: If you have a
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          2  school, you are going to need a cafeteria, you are

          3  going to need a gym, you are going to need an

          4  auditorium, you are going to need a certain number

          5  of corridors. If that school is for 800 or 1,800, it

          6  will make a dramatic difference in the cost per

          7  student and ultimately per square footage. You have

          8  to put in two sets of everything because you don't

          9  want to have 1,600 children in a school, but rather

         10  two schools at 800. That drives the numbers up.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: And a

         12  similarly important policy initiative has been to

         13  integrate special education children into the

         14  Board's general education program. That means rather

         15  than separate schools, separate sites, it means

         16  bringing special ed kids into the building. It's a

         17  good thing, special ed classes are smaller,

         18  therefore they take more square foot per child, and

         19  that is, again, good public policy, presumably good

         20  pedagogical policy, it increases construction costs.

         21                 The last point on the reasons for the

         22  increase: A lot of these are very old buildings. The

         23  profile of Board buildings shows them going back 50

         24  to 100 years, as anyone who has ever fixed --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Tony, I couldn't

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            73

          1  FINANCE/EDUCATION/LANDMARKS

          2  hear you. Could you repeat that last comment?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: The

          4  profile of the age of the Board of Education's

          5  school buildings indicates they are very old

          6  buildings.

          7                 When you are doing rehabilitation of

          8  old buildings, often without drawings, without

          9  plans, without specs, as any of you who have done

         10  any rehab in your house know, you are at higher risk

         11  for substantial cost increases, you open up a wall,

         12  you think you are doing an electrical project, it

         13  turns into a plumbing project, and so on and so on.

         14                 The final issue on that, again, it is

         15  probably good educational policy to disrupt

         16  classrooms as little as possible. It is plenty

         17  disruptive as it is, the more you can do at night,

         18  the summers, the weekends on overtime, all good

         19  things as far as the school system, not good things

         20  as far as keeping your construction costs down.

         21                 So, what does it mean? A couple of

         22  things. One, I just want to clarify the $1.5 billion

         23  estimate, and we will talk some about how good or

         24  bad that number is, but whatever it is, it is an

         25  estimate of the five-year impact.
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          2                 What's happened is the projects, some

          3  projects have been bid already, and those projects

          4  are indeed coming in well over their planned

          5  amounts, not 1.5 billion, that's a projection over

          6  what would happen if that continued for five years.

          7                 Projects, new construction and rehab

          8  are in substantially over what they were initially

          9  planned for two and a half, three years ago, they

         10  are running much higher for new construction, a

         11  little less higher, but also higher, for

         12  rehabilitation. It is, as we have heard, always

         13  difficult to predict two, three, four, and as was

         14  the case in this plan, five years out.

         15                 I would venture to say again from a

         16  prior life, where I had to look at capital projects

         17  and what happened to them over time, if you or any

         18  of your staffs looked back at capital projects that

         19  entered the City capital budget in Fiscal 1998 or

         20  Fiscal 1999 budget, and compared the costs of those

         21  to what they are today, you would see fairly

         22  dramatic changes for a whole host of perfectly good

         23  reasons - changes in the scope, changes about what

         24  we learned about the site and so on.

         25                 No one looks back at the 1998 capital
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          2  program. The extent to which one does that, I will

          3  guarantee you, there will be very dramatic changes,

          4  because, again, this is something I used to have to

          5  look at in a prior life.

          6                 So, what is the impact of that kind

          7  of change? If it is as much as 1.5 billion, and,

          8  again, all we did to generate a number like that is

          9  to assume that whatever is the case now continues

         10  for the next three years.

         11                 As we heard from Steve Spinola, it is

         12  possible that the market is softening, and that

         13  would bring the cost down and that would be

         14  terrific. But assuming nothing changed, it was just

         15  as it is, there would probably be a $1.5 billion

         16  shortfall, an inadequate funding to build everything

         17  in this plan, frankly, pretty comparable to exactly

         18  what happened in the prior five-year plan when it

         19  was $1.1 billion on a much smaller plan.

         20                 What it means is, some projects at

         21  the end of the fifth year will end up being funded

         22  sixth year, the anomaly of a five-year planning

         23  process, as happened from the first to the second,

         24  and the second to the third.

         25                 Now, some of that will be made easy,
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          2  because there will be projects we just can't do,

          3  because the site doesn't work or there is a delay

          4  and they will naturally flow out of the plan. But at

          5  this point we don't know that, we haven't gotten to

          6  projects three years from now, so we are assuming

          7  every project is ready to go and therefore we need

          8  the money for it, as scheduled. If that all

          9  happened, and nothing softened in the market, there

         10  could be a shortfall of 1.5 billion, and that would

         11  mean some fifth-year projects would take place in

         12  the next year.

         13                 As of now, of course, nothing has

         14  changed in our plan, no projects are stopped or

         15  delayed, they are moving along, we have some time to

         16  deal with this issue.

         17                 So, the last issues, let's talk about

         18  the four issues that are on the table, and I think

         19  Council Member Sabini raised these, reporting,

         20  oversight, what's our control, in other words, how

         21  do we deal with this going forward?

         22                 I want to mention that it is not just

         23  the Board. OMB has begun now reviewing each of the

         24  approvals for every school project individually, the

         25  CPs are subject to case-by-case approval, and that's
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          2  going forward in place, but let's talk about what

          3  the Board will do.

          4                 The Chancellor proposed a series of

          5  changes to the Board last week, and they are in

          6  general designed to make the Board capital program

          7  look more like the City capital program, meaning do

          8  a plan amendment, as the President mentioned,

          9  probably after an audit or some reviews or whenever

         10  the Board wants to do the plan amendment, but to do

         11  a plan amendment, to do a semi-annual reforecast to

         12  the plan, much as the City does, an interim

         13  reforecast, to provide monthly plan status reports.

         14  Interesting note, the Board's capital program, huge

         15  capital program, was not carried on the City's

         16  capital program information systems until July 1, a

         17  few weeks ago. It's new projects were, but its rehab

         18  projects were not, meaning that it was not easy for

         19  people to track the rehab.

         20                 The new projects actually have been

         21  easy to track for years and years, the SCA has been

         22  widely distributing a report that shows the status

         23  of all of the new projects. And that is the fourth

         24  mentioned, to put all of them on the City accounting

         25  system, which is actually in place.
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          2                 A couple of other things: One, in

          3  terms of oversight, we would like to bring our CFO

          4  more into this, this is an internal Board issue, but

          5  to have more of a financial oversight of the plan.

          6  And we are also looking and recommending to our

          7  Board to consider an independent engineering

          8  consultant to the Board, much as the MTA does and is

          9  required to do, for those of you on that Committee.

         10                 In terms of control, we are now going

         11  to have a Deputy Chancellor sign off on all our

         12  projects where there is a change of more than ten

         13  percent or $3 million and notify the Board's Finance

         14  Committee along the way, rather than at the end of

         15  any period, a month, a year or more.

         16                 We are going to look at a value

         17  engineering of schools, the standard school

         18  specification, we haven't done this. We did it

         19  actually a few years ago and it was very helpful, it

         20  brought down the cost of schools, it's time to do it

         21  again.

         22                 The City has an active value

         23  engineering program, and we think we should have one

         24  too.

         25                 We will probably appoint a standing
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          2  advisory committee to the Chancellor of outside

          3  construction experts to help us think about things

          4  like what's a good inflation number, what's a good

          5  contingency number.

          6                 Again, I should mention, Board

          7  projects are different than City capital projects.

          8  We are not building sewers or highways where

          9  basically the only one in the market is the City. We

         10  are building buildings, which means we are in direct

         11  competition for contractors with commercial real

         12  estate developers.

         13                 So, the market affects us much more

         14  than it does when you are building infrastructure

         15  projects.

         16                 Finally, we have retained an outside

         17  engineering consultant to go through all the

         18  projects that are not yet bid in the next remaining

         19  three years of the plan, to come up with a full

         20  re-estimate of the cost of those projects, and that

         21  was also designed to help the Board do a full plan

         22  re-estimate.

         23                 The last step, and probably the

         24  Chancellor wants to go through it, as was mentioned,

         25  as the President mentioned, we want to do some
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          2  thinking about how to leverage what we have to

          3  increase the value of the money already at the Board

          4  before we come and look and ask for additional

          5  funding, although we may have to do that as well.

          6                 Harold, did you want to --

          7                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I've been looking at

          8  this problem for some time and it actually is

          9  alluded to in the Commission report that we did,

         10  that I chaired --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I just wanted to

         12  interject. You say you have been looking at this for

         13  a long time, Mr. Chancellor?

         14                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: The whole

         16  process; am I correct? When did we find --

         17                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: What I was referring

         18  to is the need -- when I chaired that Commission on

         19  School Facilities, and that was really on

         20  maintenance, what became very clear to me is that we

         21  need to figure out ways to get more buildings in the

         22  ground and do it in a creative way, and that the

         23  School Construction Authority may not be the only

         24  way, and indeed that simply purchasing new real

         25  estate and using eminent domain, as we have been
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          2  before your Committee before, asking for your

          3  assistance, may not be the only way, and there may

          4  be other things. It is actually something that

          5  Councilman Sabini mentioned in passing at one of the

          6  earlier hearings, one of the Land Use issues. And

          7  what I want to do is have a Commission on Capital

          8  Plan look at creative ways to leverage existing

          9  resources. Here is what I mean by that: I think

         10  there are ways that we can create, almost create

         11  real estate, which is sort of a funny concept. Real

         12  estate is simply there, you don't build new land,

         13  and, yet, maybe we can do something. Let me give you

         14  some examples:

         15                 I think we can get more efficient use

         16  of existing real property. One thing that we can do,

         17  and I will just take one example, building up

         18  options. We have some buildings which are two-story,

         19  and three-story buildings, which have the physical

         20  capacity to have another story put on top, and that

         21  way a school building, where we might not be able to

         22  build a whole new building, we might be able to

         23  expand the existing building by putting another

         24  story on it, or two stories on it. That's not

         25  something we have explored before, and, yet, is an
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          2  opportunity that we could use in a lot of places.

          3                 Another thing: The Board of Education

          4  has 1,100 buildings, that means that there is real

          5  estate in every part of this City, and some of that

          6  real estate may not be used to its maximum extent,

          7  it is an extraordinarily expensive asset in some

          8  places, and it might be better utilized to have more

          9  schools on the same site. There is a leasing program

         10  that has been the object of this Committee's

         11  attention over the years, and I think the leasing

         12  program still isn't where it should be, and I think

         13  there are opportunities here at non-profit

         14  financing, that's a program that we are already

         15  experimenting with and I think we can do more about.

         16                 But those kind of different ways to

         17  use existing real estate assets I think is a device

         18  that we can use to build more on what we have.

         19                 I have asked, I have gotten a

         20  commitment of a number of people to be on this

         21  Commission, Peter Lair, the builder, formerly head

         22  of Lair McGovern Bogus; Ed Malloy, Labor Leader,

         23  knows the construction trades; Jack Rudin, there are

         24  two or three others I am speaking with, to see

         25  whether we can't get a broad spectrum of people who
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          2  know how to do capital planning and who know how to

          3  take existing facilities and maximize their usage.

          4                 I think it is an attempt to think out

          5  of the box and be more creative with what we have

          6  got and some of the ideas will be controversial.

          7  About I guess four months ago I retained Ben Lambert

          8  who has put together all kinds of interesting

          9  construction projects in the past, and he is working

         10  with us to think through how can we use existing

         11  real estate in more clever ways.

         12                 That is the intent to try and pull

         13  together some of these ideas in a Commission of

         14  people who truly are experts.

         15                 I would be happy to take questions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Mr. Chancellor, I

         17  just want to say that it is very impressive to know

         18  what people can do after the fact. I am in hopes

         19  right now on how we can rectify that lack of

         20  communication that exists between those people in

         21  actuality who carry out the responsibility, versus

         22  the person who issues the order, the rules and the

         23  regulations.

         24                 I want to come back again because it

         25  is very important. When did the Board first know
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          2  about this shortfall?

          3                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I told, there are a

          4  couple of different levels of answers. The cost for

          5  the projects began escalating about the amounts

          6  listed in the plan, obviously long before I arrived,

          7  you heard the testimony of Steve Spinola. The

          8  individual reports, project by project, were known

          9  to Board members and the information was sent out. I

         10  was generally aware that the costs were going up.

         11  Pretty much some time in my first six months, I

         12  guess prior to becoming permanent Chancellor, I

         13  became first aware of it. The analysis of the bids

         14  received during the first year of the plan was

         15  completed in the fall leading to an initial

         16  projection of a shortfall, when I was told that, and

         17  that was in the nature of, you know, it is going up,

         18  it is moving, I asked to have a capital plan

         19  prepared. When I was told the number, I believe the

         20  number I was originally told was three to 500

         21  million on a plan of 7 billion, that was in

         22  December, I believe, and I have tried, obviously, I

         23  have tried to back out when did I know what --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: December of what?

         25                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Of last year. I
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          2  mean, I have only been here for one December.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It just seems

          4  like an eternity.

          5                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: For both of us.

          6                 If I may finish? I think that is when

          7  I first became aware of the number, and I directed

          8  that there be a plan put in place, and at that point

          9  I also advised the Board President, another the

         10  Board member, the data obviously was aware -- you

         11  know, people were aware of it from the School

         12  Construction bid documents and reports that go out,

         13  and I know a number of you received them as well,

         14  but, you know, when did I get an accumulated number,

         15  it was about December, and then the next number I

         16  heard was on the order of a billion, a billion-five,

         17  and that's when I said we have got to get that

         18  upstairs as well, and that's what we did.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Chancellor, if I

         20  may, firstly, so that I can understand, all of the

         21  testimony regarding cost overruns and the cost for

         22  construction, you know, is information that we are

         23  aware of. You don't have to be the world's greatest

         24  expert to know that costs have gone up. The concerns

         25  that this Committee and the concerns that the
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          2  Council have is the process, the failure of

          3  communication, the inability to deal with the plan

          4  that was before us so that it could be, the public

          5  and the Council can be properly aware of what the

          6  realities are.

          7                 Now, so that I try to understand what

          8  is going on. Your testimony was, and our information

          9  is that the current five-year plan did not include

         10  the $970 million for prior plan completion costs; is

         11  that true? It did not include it?

         12                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: No, it did.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It did not?

         14                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: No, it did.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It did include

         16  it?

         17                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So, the $7

         19  billion contemplated the $970 million?

         20                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I believe it was

         21  1.1.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: In the course of

         23  your testimony, or the testimony of members of the

         24  Board, was that information ever given to the

         25  Council?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: The number is in the

          3  capital plan.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: There is a

          5  line in the capital plan that says rollovers from

          6  prior plans, it is a category right there, it is 1.1

          7  billion --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I'm sorry, Tony,

          9  I can't hear you. You have to speak closer to the

         10  mike.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: There is a

         12  line in the capital budget, the approved five-year

         13  plan obviously distributed to everyone that says

         14  rollovers from prior plans. It is actually

         15  delineated in category how much the rollover is.

         16                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: It is quite detailed

         17  in the capital plan document.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, so

         19  then effectively the plan before us started with

         20  close to a billion dollars in the red before it

         21  started?

         22                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now, I am trying

         24  to understand the process.

         25                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am trying to

          3  understand the process of how a $7 billion plan was

          4  approved, but yet a billion dollars was last year's

          5  or the earlier plan. Now, are you saying that is

          6  strictly as a consequence of cost overruns? And

          7  there were no other factors in this $1 billion

          8  deficit, close to $1 billion shortfall? Or the 1.5

          9  billion.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Our

         11  understanding is that each of the two prior plans --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Tony, please take

         13  the mike closer.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I'm sorry.

         15                 In each of the two prior plans, the

         16  first five-year plan there were about half a billion

         17  dollars, $560 million of projects that were not

         18  completed during the plan period, yet all of the

         19  dollars of the plan were expended on the projects.

         20  So, it wasn't as if we didn't finish some projects

         21  and underspent the plan just because time or they

         22  took too long to do, and they rolled in, all the

         23  money was spent on the project, but because there

         24  wasn't enough money to do all those projects, and

         25  because those were the projects that were at the end
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          2  of the plan, they were in effect rolled into the

          3  next plan and money from the second plan had to be

          4  allocated to finish up the first plan and money from

          5  the --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Contemplating

          7  that number, did there ever come a time where you

          8  substituted projects for projects that were

          9  originally contemplated?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: I'm not

         11  sure I am following your question, Council member.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, let's

         13  assume that a particular school for one reason or

         14  another may not have been, the school plan may have

         15  been ready, did you substitute other projects or did

         16  you wait?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SHORRIS: I have

         18  to defer to Patricia. My general sense, though,

         19  Council Member, is that projects that were underway,

         20  either in construction, had to be finished --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No, I am not

         22  saying that. I am saying that if you had a

         23  particular project that was planned at a particular

         24  time, but for one reason or another it wasn't ready

         25  at that moment, did you substitute other plans that
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          2  may have been ready?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Not that I

          4  am aware of, but Patricia Zedalis maybe should

          5  comment also.

          6                 MS. ZEDALIS: The list of rollover

          7  projects was individually itemized in the plan, and

          8  in terms of projects, as Tony said, all of the money

          9  for the plan was obligated and encumbered, and there

         10  was not enough money to do all of the projects in

         11  the plan.

         12                 Now, some projects in any plan

         13  sometimes go ahead in front of others because the

         14  project isn't ready to go forward, but these were

         15  absolutely identified projects in the second sense.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am not saying

         17  they are not. I just want to know, were they ever

         18  re-estimated when they were rolled over because of

         19  the delay?

         20                 MS. ZEDALIS: Yes, they were

         21  reestimated under the same conditions as all the new

         22  capacity projects that Tony described earlier,

         23  except for those where we already had a design

         24  estimate from the SCA.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So then when it
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          2  was reestimated then you had the more valid or

          3  viable cost; is that correct?

          4                 MS. ZEDALIS: That's correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Now, if I may, I

          6  don't recall who was testifying, but in the

          7  testimony over our last budget process, why was not

          8  the shortfall mentioned before the testimony before

          9  the Education Committee and before the Finance

         10  Committee? Shouldn't this have been a discussion at

         11  that time, at a time when perhaps we might have been

         12  able to deal with it? Why is this information that

         13  comes out after the fact, after we have completed

         14  the budget, after we have been in a position to

         15  address the issue?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well, a

         17  couple of things are true, Council member. We should

         18  talk some about it. But it was clear at the time the

         19  budget was under discussion, both the Executive

         20  Budget, the Preliminary Plan and then the Executive

         21  and ultimately the adopted budget, there was an

         22  extraordinary threat on the table to the operating

         23  budget of the Board, which would have affected the

         24  kids right now, and that threat remains in place,

         25  that various orders of magnitude, anywhere from a
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          2  couple of hundred million dollars on closer --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I remember that

          4  well, sure.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: It was, I

          6  think a pretty reasonable approach to say we had

          7  enormous immediate threats facing the kids right now

          8  in the operating budget of the Board of Education.

          9  We had a long-term issue, the same issue that had

         10  been in place, frankly, for more than a decade,

         11  which was a capital plan that grows increasingly out

         12  of date, with three years to deal with that problem

         13  ahead of us, and if you had to look at frankly a

         14  trade off, and obviously, all of these things, as

         15  you know, are trade-offs, between an enormous

         16  emergent crisis facing the school system this year,

         17  versus a capital program, frankly, we didn't have

         18  all of the numbers at the time, but a substantial

         19  capital shortfall, three or two, three years out, I

         20  think it is not an unreasonable trade-off to say, I

         21  think everybody's focus should be on the operating

         22  budget.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: You know, it

         24  seems to me, first of all, when I became chair of

         25  the Finance Committee one of the first innovations
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          2  that I created was an implementation of a process

          3  that gave equal credibility to the capital budget,

          4  as well as the expense budget, we brought it into

          5  the limelight and we asked the world to comment on

          6  it, and our hearing covered the capital, as well as

          7  the expense. There was no requirement in effect that

          8  we don't fully discuss the capital plan. It would

          9  have been an ideal appropriate time to have

         10  discussed this fully with the Council. I suggest to

         11  you that the process has to change, if, in fact, you

         12  expect response, valid response from this body.

         13                 I mean, the bottom line is that when

         14  there was a need, an emergency need, school

         15  construction and school rehabilitation and

         16  maintenance, the Council, subsequently with the

         17  Mayor, met the issue by allocating $1.4 billion. We

         18  responded to a need. It's a need that we became

         19  aware of. Because of testimony, because of

         20  interchange and communication between the Council

         21  and the Chancellor.

         22                 Now, in this particular instance we

         23  were denied an opportunity to remediate. That

         24  shouldn't have happened. That shouldn't have

         25  happened. And the purpose of this hearing is to make
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          2  certain that this doesn't happen in the future, and,

          3  of course, it is distressing.

          4                 So, I understand all of the issues of

          5  increased costs, my staff understands increased

          6  cost, if they didn't they wouldn't be on my staff.

          7  So, that's not the issue.

          8                 The issue is developing a process

          9  that enables the Council to respond, developing a

         10  process that enables this government to be able to

         11  deal with the problems. If the Board of Education,

         12  if the system had a problem, the problem is

         13  legitimate, the problem has to be dealt with, and we

         14  should have had an opportunity to deal with it, not

         15  to play catch-up or not to throw our hands up in the

         16  air and say, you know, well, where was everybody, it

         17  is just not fair and it is not fair to the

         18  beneficiaries of the program, and it is frustrating.

         19  It is frustrating to have to deal with facts and

         20  circumstances in that vain.

         21                 Permit me to ask a couple of other

         22  questions. And forgive the outburst, but, you know,

         23  it is one thing to be criticized, but it is another

         24  thing to be fairly included in the process.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Just for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            95

          1  FINANCE/EDUCATION/LANDMARKS

          2  the record, Council Member, we don't mean in any way

          3  that we are not -- we are not subjecting here anyone

          4  to criticism, perhaps other than ourselves, but the

          5  only point I want to make on the capital is, you are

          6  absolutely right, it's a good idea, and we should

          7  have probably raised this earlier. I just want to

          8  make it clear, this is a five-year plan, it has a

          9  problem, probably in the fifth year, there is, and I

         10  don't mean in any way to underplay the seriousness

         11  of it, but there is in this case at least some

         12  opportunity for some discourse over how best to

         13  solve the problem.

         14                 We think we will also probably owe

         15  the Council, as we would owe our own board, the best

         16  possible estimate of the technical magnitude of the

         17  problem, how big is it? Is a billion and a half

         18  exactly the right number? I think you would probably

         19  ask us to make sure that it was, and we are in the

         20  process of doing that.

         21                 So, there is some time to deal with

         22  our problem, more time would have been better, and I

         23  think that is probably a fair criticism among many

         24  of the Board, but in this case at least I do want to

         25  give you some comfort, there is some time to try and
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          2  remedy this problem.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, I

          4  understand that. I understand that. But what we did

          5  was lose the ability to be able to deal with it

          6  during the budget process, and that was the loss of

          7  time, there was a loss of opportunity, there was a

          8  loss of a period of time where we had a surplus that

          9  might have been dealt. I am not saying that we

         10  necessarily might have opted to do it, we may not

         11  have, but it was an issue that should have been part

         12  of an open debate, and it is just unfair, I don't

         13  want to say it is unfair, it is just inappropriate

         14  that we didn't have the opportunity to deal with

         15  that issue.

         16                 Now, in your opinion, are the current

         17  estimates of the capital plan cost based on

         18  reasonable mythology -- methodology and the best

         19  mythology possibly.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: We will

         21  take that as a Freudian slip.

         22                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I will take that as

         23  more than a Freudian slip.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I guess we needed

         25  that laugh, all right.
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          2                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I can answer that

          3  question easier than the one you are going to ask.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I bet you can.

          5                 All right, anyhow, on reasonable

          6  methodology and the best information reasonably

          7  available?

          8                 Actually, the Council has been told

          9  by very many sources that the Board has been using

         10  $385 a square foot for new capacity projects in the

         11  five-year plan, which to the best of our

         12  understanding is the course that was being used in

         13  1989 when the School Construction Authority was

         14  first created.

         15                 I don't understand that, so perhaps

         16  you can help me --

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: You may

         18  remember in the course of the presentation that I

         19  just went through, I did mention value engineering,

         20  which is a real important piece of how you do

         21  capital projects.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Sure.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: As you

         24  know, and heard about, and as far as the City is

         25  concerned, one of the great things about value
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          2  engineering is that if you do it right, it helps

          3  bring down your cost per unit. The Board and SCA

          4  undertook a value engineering program in the past

          5  that helped bring down the cost per square foot of

          6  new schools, wisely, because it stretched our

          7  dollars farther. That means that it's a little bit

          8  of an apples/oranges comparison to look at a richer

          9  specification in the past, compared to what we build

         10  now.

         11                 But the larger question that you

         12  raise is whether or not the estimates are good, and

         13  it's definitely a seminal question for the Council,

         14  as it is for our Board, that's part of the reason we

         15  have gone ahead and retained an outside estimating

         16  firm to go back through once again everything we

         17  know about what is outstanding, the best estimates

         18  they can come up with, although frankly, Council

         19  Member, as you well know, the extent to which there

         20  are schools still in that plan with no sites

         21  identified, will mean you can ask the best estimator

         22  in the world what the costs will be and they will

         23  have little more to fall back on than the formula.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I understand

         25  that, but using the same cost that was used 11, 12
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          2  years ago, I mean I am not an engineer, and there

          3  may be valid reasons for it, I just can't see it.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: It is

          5  actually partly the success. That is common in value

          6  engineering, as I am sure you have heard when the

          7  City has testified on it. If you do it right, it is

          8  supposed to bring down your cost per unit and help

          9  you control cost and in this case it worked.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Are you saying,

         11  therefore, were it not for the utilization of the

         12  $385 a square foot cost, that the cost would even be

         13  higher, the cost overruns would even be higher?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: Well,

         15  sadly, not all of our projects are even coming in at

         16  $385, that is part of the problem, costs for many of

         17  our schools are actually higher than that when you

         18  include --

         19                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: The number is not

         20  simply a function of something that was done ten

         21  years ago or 11 years ago. The number is a function

         22  of most recent bids received and their per square

         23  footage, and then an estimate which is pumped into a

         24  formula that the SCA and the School Construction

         25  Authority have been using for a long time.
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          2                 The fair question that you ask,

          3  though, is what confidence do we have in them, and

          4  that is precisely why we have retained the firm,

          5  O'Brien Kreisberg is the name, to come take a look

          6  and tell us whether these numbers make sense.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It seems to be an

          8  issue that begs to be straight away.

          9                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I accept that and

         10  that's why we have retained an outside firm to help

         11  us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: On January 24th

         13  of this year, the Council approved a budget

         14  modification that advanced almost $660 million into

         15  fiscal year 2001, from Fiscal Year 2002 through

         16  2004. We were told that that budget modification

         17  would speed up a number of projects in the five-year

         18  plan, and advance the construction of new schools.

         19  Please tell me as to whether or not that money was

         20  actually used for that purposes, or was the money

         21  utilized to deal with the shortfall, and if that is

         22  the case, why wasn't that information shared with

         23  us?

         24                 MS. ZEDALIS: The $659 million was

         25  split into two pieces, $359 million was to advance
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          2  12 capacity projects from the out years, 11 in

          3  Queens and one in the Bronx, and all of those were

          4  committed this fiscal year prior to June 30th. The

          5  $300 balance was to move along the existing years,

          6  the FY '01 CIP program, all of which had been

          7  designed and the SCA was physically obligating,

          8  bidding it out and obligating projects. So, the

          9  money was all used appropriately.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So, in your

         11  opinion, Pat, the explanation and the reason given

         12  for that was validly dealt with and complied with?

         13                 MS. ZEDALIS: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: For the purposes

         15  of just getting some understanding, understanding

         16  the course and site selection process, and Council

         17  Member Sabini commented about that, I am told that

         18  the Board of Education has a controversial site on

         19  Queens Boulevard that would require at least a

         20  million dollars or more in environmental

         21  remediation, and are there alternative sites, have

         22  you done any alternative site analysis that would be

         23  more cost effective; can you explain that? Or are we

         24  definitely going to proceed with that one site?

         25                 MS. ZEDALIS: I am not sure exactly
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          2  which site you are referring to.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Queens Boulevard.

          4                 MS. ZEDALIS: Queens Boulevard at 50th

          5  Street?

          6                 That is a site we are evaluating for

          7  a high school. I am not sure about the environmental

          8  remediation cost, I would have to check on that and

          9  get back to you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Would you please,

         11  Pat, and get back to me about this?

         12                 MS. ZEDALIS: Of course.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

         14                 Any other questions?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Ms. Pinkett.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: Thank you.

         18                 I was beginning to give up on the

         19  possibility of asking this question.

         20                 First of all, I would like to say

         21  that I would have to commend all of us for our

         22  ability to stay and withstand the storms of this

         23  particular hearing.

         24                 I come down on the side of the

         25  Speaker who stated that this is not a hearing on
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          2  blame, to establish blame, but one that should be

          3  directed in terms of working to improve education

          4  and with the need to deliver on education for the

          5  children of the City of New York, and I think

          6  sometimes we forget that, that, to me, is the

          7  primary focus.

          8                 The second most important thing I

          9  think of is everyone is gung ho when we talk about

         10  New York City, if we talk about the fact that we are

         11  widening the sidewalks on Times Square, that's a go,

         12  and if we talk about whether or not Disney is

         13  bringing in people into New York City, that's

         14  wonderful, we have money for that, and if we talk

         15  about indeed that there is a new baseball field and

         16  that we can now perhaps put a cap on a stadium, we

         17  have got money for that, But we talk about things

         18  like educating kids and then we want to know what

         19  the bottom line is. Well, in my mind the bottom line

         20  is that we have a country, and we have a people, and

         21  they are educated, and the survival of this nation

         22  depends upon an educated populous who wants to keep

         23  this country alive, and I think that is the purpose

         24  of our being here. And if it is not our purpose then

         25  we are wasting time, we are really wasting time.
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          2                 I think this has been a valuable

          3  learning session for all of us, because sometimes in

          4  a budget hearing we are so very involved, we may

          5  forget to look at that other side of the line, and

          6  what the teacher did today was to make us look at

          7  the other side of the line, and that was an

          8  important educational tool.

          9                 I would recommend that the planning

         10  begin, that the planning should not be just the

         11  Chancellor, and the Mayor, and the Board of Ed, in

         12  terms of those members of the Board, I don't care

         13  how tired you get, it must include the communities

         14  and the parents of the youngsters, because they are

         15  part of the mix that will make this wonderful

         16  experiment great.

         17                 Now, you say that to run a business

         18  that would never succeed. Well, maybe so. Maybe

         19  that's why so many businesses go out of business,

         20  and maybe that is one reason they stand up and

         21  cheer, and then other mornings everybody is down in

         22  the doldrums because things did not go right. But I

         23  believe from what they taught me in school, that an

         24  amendment has to be passed and go through all of the

         25  states of the union, or else that amendment has no
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          2  real meaning.

          3                 If I am to benefit or to gain a value

          4  for the children of the City of New York, then the

          5  parents of the children of the City of New York,

          6  must participate, must be a part of understanding

          7  what it is that is happening to the children of the

          8  City of New York.

          9                 Would I trust all of the political

         10  entities to come and just speak to them? Not on your

         11  life. I think everyone should be at the table who

         12  can speak for the children. That does not just

         13  include parents and grandparents, that also includes

         14  people who are taxpayers who pay for the education

         15  of the children of the City of New York.

         16                 I would also ask that in this mix

         17  that you bring to us as to expenditures, you talk

         18  about the money that is spent that should be spent

         19  on the public education, that goes to the private

         20  sector, that goes out from the public school, that

         21  the children of the City of New York lose, because

         22  we make commitments that take from the children of

         23  the City of New York their educational dollar, their

         24  opportunities. That's part of the loss, that's part

         25  of what they lose, and maybe we don't know it, but

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            106

          1  FINANCE/EDUCATION/LANDMARKS

          2  we are taking away from them their right, their

          3  benefit, their privileges, and we ought to be aware

          4  of the total value that we remove from their plate.

          5                 I also am not really overwhelmed

          6  because the Assembly speaker says do away with the

          7  Board of Education. I may fight with dislikes of

          8  many things that the Board of Education does, I may

          9  sometimes feel especially when they cancel the

         10  commuter tax, do away with the assembly, do away

         11  with the senate, but I am not going to vote for any

         12  one person to have total control over the Board of

         13  Education.

         14                 I would certainly not agree that it

         15  should be a decision in terms of how much is spent

         16  by the person who is going to do the work, that they

         17  should do the estimates, that's like going back and

         18  saying now that we have what we wanted in terms of

         19  someone having the right to have a Police Review

         20  Board, no, we don't want that, let's give it back to

         21  the PBA. You would have to be crazy to do that.

         22                 So what we do want is an honest

         23  account and open account, and we do want the

         24  dialogue that will keep us from fighting with each

         25  other, and to produce a decent accounting and a good
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          2  educational system, and, finally, I am tired of us

          3  who are New Yorkers depreciating and devaluing our

          4  own educational system and our own City for

          5  everybody in this country to say, New York, their

          6  education, what, what is it? And it seems to me we

          7  ought to recognize that as legislators and educators

          8  we must have a responsibility to make it better, and

          9  if it is failing then it is all of us who are

         10  responsible for that.

         11                 So, Mr. Chancellor, with just those

         12  few remarks I know you will take care of it, by the

         13  31st, I hope we have a positive answer.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Ms.

         15  Pinkett.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PINKETT: You are

         17  welcome.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Just a very, very

         19  brief reference.

         20                 Pat, can you briefly just explain to

         21  me the difference between completion costs and

         22  rollover costs? I am trying to become a construction

         23  expert today.

         24                 MS. ZEDALIS: Completion costs were

         25  put into the plan, there was a small number, it was
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          2  a small lump sum number for any projects that had

          3  started in the plan, it could be rehab projects, and

          4  there was a change order or something like that that

          5  we weren't aware of and that needed to be paid for

          6  in addition to whatever had been originally

          7  obligated, so it was an enormous, it could be a

          8  smaller group of projects that's turned out to be a

          9  much larger group of projects. The rollover projects

         10  were specific projects that were listed on two pages

         11  in the plan, they were primarily capacity projects.

         12  Most of them that had not been started, some of them

         13  had been and the funding was put in there for some

         14  to finish the project, such as furniture fixtures

         15  and equipment.

         16                 So, we made that distinction. I think

         17  it is a little difficult but that's the way we --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you for

         19  that explanation.

         20                 MS. ZEDALIS: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Chancellor, one

         22  very, very brief question, if I may?

         23                 Do you have access to the School

         24  Construction Authority computer systems that would

         25  provide to you programmatic or financial information
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          2  on the projects in the five-year plan?

          3                 MS. ZEDALIS: Yes, we have access to

          4  the major SCA systems in our office, and in fact the

          5  reports that we put together and shared with our

          6  board is on a project by project basis, and taken

          7  from the SCA information, or bid information that we

          8  have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So then

         10  presumably whatever the SCA had on their computers

         11  you had?

         12                 MS. ZEDALIS: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 I am sorry, do you have a question?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Just briefly. I

         17  need to know this, and I keep forgetting.

         18                 Why does the Board estimate of

         19  projects cost differ so much from SCA's?

         20                 MS. ZEDALIS: The Board estimate is

         21  put together at the plan creation, and it is based

         22  on, for example, new school projects, just on a per

         23  square foot number, and generally a site that's not

         24  been identified. On the rehab it is done on the per

         25  unit cost basis.
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          2                 The SCA's estimates are developed

          3  during the design process. An architect or engineer

          4  has gone out, completely evaluated the building or

          5  started the design for a new school, made

          6  recommendations to repair, so it is a much more

          7  developed number. Our goal in estimating the plan is

          8  to try and get those two costs more closely

          9  together.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Has there been a

         11  breakdown on the percentage difference from one plan

         12  to another to know exactly where we start to fall

         13  apart, from plan A to plan where we are now? Has

         14  there been a percentage of what we had to implement

         15  in each one of those plans up to this point?

         16                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: We have not gone

         17  through the prior plans, but what we have done is we

         18  have a detailed look at the capital plan versus the

         19  SCA estimate, versus the actual bid.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Well, I'm in

         21  actuality talking about the shortfalls between one

         22  plan to another. Have there been a percentage

         23  analyst on how much in actuality was the overrun on

         24  plan A from the beginning, from the inception, as to

         25  where we are now?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: The analysis that

          3  exists, the only analysis that I am aware of is one

          4  that was done prior to the next plan's creation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Well, I think it

          6  would be very important for this Committee, I don't

          7  know about Council Member Berman, but I know it is

          8  important for the Education Committee to know

          9  exactly the shortfalls between the 1994 up to the

         10  2000-2004?

         11                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: In fairness, we can

         12  do that, but it will require a bit of archeology,

         13  because obviously this is six, seven years ago.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: You know,

         15  Chancellor, I don't know what is in fairness now,

         16  but all I know is I need that. Thank you.

         17                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: We will supply it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Perkins.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         21  very much, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 I have to leave, but I did want to

         23  first thank Chairman Sabini and my colleague Linares

         24  for allowing me to get my questions and concerns in

         25  before them.
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          2                 I want to sort of clear the air a

          3  little bit, because when this problem became public,

          4  as happens very often with issues like this, the

          5  perception in the community is one of two things,

          6  either gross incompetence or corruption.

          7                 You obviously have done a wonderful

          8  effort to clear up the question of confidence and

          9  try to explain the dynamics that were taking place

         10  within the construction environment that might have

         11  contributed to the unanticipated costs, but for the

         12  sake of the record, with all due respect to

         13  everyone, what amount of this $1.5 billion would you

         14  say is a matter of corruption?

         15                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Not a dollar.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Not a dollar,

         17  okay.

         18                 So, that's important to clear up

         19  because folks tend to believe that cost overruns

         20  sometimes are the manipulation of evil forces to get

         21  more money, and we have had, unfortunately in this

         22  City, the Buildings Department and others kinds of

         23  things that have been going on, where that has

         24  proven to be the case, and while weakened our view

         25  about why you didn't give these committees the
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          2  proper airing, the timely airing of the issue, the

          3  public is not really interested in whether or not

          4  the Council heard about this first or heard about it

          5  too late. The public wants to know whether or not

          6  somebody is stealing their money essentially for the

          7  sake of building schools for children.

          8                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Council Member

          9  Perkins, I appreciate your giving me the opportunity

         10  to answer that question because I know that many

         11  people, on seeing a headline that says 1.5 billion,

         12  will immediately jump to the conclusion that it is

         13  theft or it is embezzlement or it's corruption.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Something in

         15  that family.

         16                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: You forget, in an

         17  earlier age I had something to do with compliance,

         18  so these are issues that are near and dear to my

         19  heart.

         20                 I know of nothing to indicate that it

         21  was any impropriety of that kind, and I would expect

         22  that I would be told that by the people involved who

         23  supervised this.

         24                 And I know you have got Milo Riverso

         25  coming on who is the head of the School Construction
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          2  Authority, and I sit as a trustee, you know, I do

          3  not know of any amount within that 1.5 that would be

          4  attributable to that theft or misfeasance of that

          5  kind, and I invite you to ask Milo to ask the same

          6  question, and obviously there is an SCA investigator

          7  general who can answer that question, and, you know,

          8  the Commissioner of Investigations, Ed Stansik, but

          9  nothing has come to my attention that would suggest

         10  any kind of impropriety of that sort.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         12  very much for answering that and clearing the air.

         13                 I won't be here to ask you, but I

         14  would hope that in the course of your testimony that

         15  you do, you know, address that. Again, no disrespect

         16  to anyone, just so that the folks out there can

         17  understand that what we are talking about is not big

         18  hands in the big cookie jar but something else that

         19  is fixable and is accountable.

         20                 Thank you very much.

         21                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Thank you,

         22  Councilman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Council Member

         24  Sabini.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Thank you, Madam
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          2  Chair.

          3                 I want to ask sort of a couple

          4  different kinds of questions.

          5                 Mr. Shorris, you said that when

          6  developing estimates on new construction that you

          7  used, in the presentation you said you used SCA bids

          8  from mid-'98, that was the end of the last five-year

          9  plan. There seems to be a perception out there that

         10  you are using information from the late eighties,

         11  rather than the late '90s, which is not true,

         12  correct?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: No, that's

         14  not correct. They were the most recent bids during

         15  the time the staff was developing the plan.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Secondly, I

         17  wanted to ask -- today we had the extensive article

         18  in the Daily News about the projects, repair

         19  projects, and I am wondering if you can just sort of

         20  walk us through how you can get to the point where a

         21  project, and I understand once you start ripping out

         22  stone or plumbing, you don't know what is down

         23  there, but you have a project like New Utrecht High

         24  School, which is 61,571 percent over budget, kind of

         25  an astounding number, or the Concord Alternative

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            116

          1  FINANCE/EDUCATION/LANDMARKS

          2  High School in Staten Island, where the exterior

          3  costs more than the renovations at the Yankee

          4  Stadium, admittedly a different time, but still, $26

          5  million can buy an awful lot in most places, a lot

          6  more in exterior repair. And I am wondering if you

          7  will just take us through either of those or both of

          8  those?

          9                 I guess, Pat, you would be the first

         10  to tell us what happened and why it happened?

         11                 MS. ZEDALIS: Councilman, I have not

         12  had an opportunity to look at these individual

         13  projects, and, so, I have to get back to you on the

         14  individual projects.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You would agree

         16  the numbers are rather staggering?

         17                 MS. ZEDALIS: Yes, they are rather

         18  staggering.

         19                 However, we had looked at each

         20  project in the rehab program, project by project,

         21  and looked at where we had cost increases and looked

         22  at why we had cost increases and in many cases that

         23  was because of scope increases. I can get you more

         24  details on these individual projects.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You contract with
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          2  someone to, say, do the flood work at New Utrecht, a

          3  private concern, and they come back to you at what

          4  point and say we need to do more?

          5                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: If I can have a

          6  moment, perhaps Milo Riverso is here and he may be

          7  more familiar with this.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Well, maybe we

          9  will ask him when he comes up.

         10                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: As you can imagine,

         11  we were preparing for this hearing today, and we

         12  just didn't have an opportunity to go through this.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: What would happen

         14  theoretically in something like that?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS: There have

         16  been a number of these reported in even some other

         17  papers and this about projects that changed

         18  completely dramatically from projects that in some

         19  cases began as a simple roof renovation, while the

         20  roof project was undergone it turned out there was

         21  more structural damage, to deal with the structural

         22  damage there would be a decision that said, well, if

         23  we are going to really open up the building --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: What I am trying

         25  to get at is who does that? The company that you
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          2  contract with to do the roof comes to you and says

          3  we have a larger problem?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR SHORRIS:

          5  Absolutely.

          6                 MS. ZEDALIS: In some cases that does

          7  happen. But on a project like flood elimination,

          8  when the building condition surveys were done, to

          9  develop the needs assessment for the capital plan,

         10  all we really may have known is that there was water

         11  in the school, it may have been a sump pump, it is

         12  only during the design process, where someone is

         13  going out there and in some cases doing some probes

         14  or invasive testing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: I understand

         16  that.

         17                 What happens then? What is the

         18  decision tree then?

         19                 MS. ZEDALIS: What happens then, when

         20  that scope report is done, if the scope is increased

         21  or it is more than ten percent over the planned

         22  budget, it comes back and our technical staff review

         23  it individually and either ask questions of the SCA,

         24  or say, yes, we agree with the recommendations in

         25  the scope, or we don't, we think you should look at
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          2  it another way. There is a rather extensive back and

          3  forth process on each project --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: It gets rebid?

          5                 MS. ZEDALIS: This is just at scope,

          6  so it is early in the design process, because what

          7  we are trying to do is, it's a pre-bid, we are

          8  trying to dissolve technical issues before we spend

          9  a lot of money on design, and certainly before it

         10  gets out into the contracting community and we have

         11  bids.

         12                 So, we do a lot of work with the SCA

         13  very early on to try and find what's needed at a

         14  particular school.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: I said at the

         16  outset of a hearing that I thought that it was

         17  important to keep your eye on the prize here, and

         18  that was that we want to make sure that you continue

         19  to build schools at the rate you are building them.

         20  But in reading the Moreland Commission's findings,

         21  and the Chancellor said that this amendment was

         22  triggered by his action, I was a little startled by

         23  some of the language they used, and understanding

         24  that other Chancellors have not amended the plan as

         25  well, the language they use were the Board of
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          2  Education's planning for capital construction is a

          3  charade, paying lip service to, or ignoring all

          4  together, the requirements set forth in the law. And

          5  it goes on with some more pretty harsh language.

          6                 And while I understand that it then

          7  sets off a series of other hearings and review, you

          8  know, we are all subject to that. We do Land Use

          9  matters that are subject to extensive hearings and

         10  review from the community board, City Planning

         11  Commission on up. I mean, that's government,

         12  sometimes it's a little messy and sometimes a little

         13  layered, but to use that as, well, it is going to be

         14  a real bother, I don't think is particularly a good

         15  answer.

         16                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I don't mean to

         17  leave that impression.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: I mean, that is

         19  pretty strong language.

         20                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I agree. And they

         21  also go on to criticize -- I mean, I read the report

         22  at the time, I asked Patricia to prepare a reply,

         23  there was a draft reply that I sat with that I

         24  wanted to change and wanted to edit, I think they

         25  have, the law is pretty clear, and it requires more
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          2  regular plan amendments, and as I said when I

          3  started, that is something I had asked for early on,

          4  and alas it will be done.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You intend on

          6  doing them as required by law?

          7                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Absolutely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: My last question

          9  is similar to the question I posed to the President

         10  of the Board and it is directed to you, as the

         11  Chancellor, as someone who has to cobble together a

         12  somewhat fractious Board, don't you feel, or am I

         13  the only one that feels this way, that the issue of

         14  repairs, which are important and necessary, is

         15  essentially a different kind of issue than the issue

         16  of construction, and that construction is essential

         17  to house kids, and that we should be delineating

         18  very specifically outside of the context of the

         19  five-year plan that there should be two separate

         20  five-year plans, there should be one for repair, and

         21  one for construction, because they are essentially

         22  different things that address different needs?

         23                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Given the degree of

         24  triage we have to do, because of the limited

         25  resources we have, there is a confluence, they are
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          2  actually quite connected, because we wind up having

          3  to focus our repairs on those buildings which if we

          4  didn't make the repair, we would lose capacity. Said

          5  differently, we wouldn't be able to keep them open

          6  if we didn't make some of these repairs. So, at

          7  least that category of repair, it seems to me, is

          8  very much in the same boat as the category of new

          9  capacity.

         10                 You are going to lose a building that

         11  is as bad as not having the building, because in

         12  both cases the children don't have places to sit.

         13                 The next level up, which I think is

         14  really what you are referring to, are things like if

         15  you have a regions lab course, how can you expect

         16  children not to have labs. If you have libraries far

         17  away, how can you expect children to be regular

         18  users of the library?

         19                 We want all of the children to have

         20  access to computers, and, yet, still so many of our

         21  schools are not hooked up to the Internet. Those are

         22  the kind of things, much less the things like we

         23  saw, like when, you know, Councilman Berman referred

         24  to the 1.4 billion that the Council put in place, at

         25  least in part because of that Commission Project
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          2  that I was involved in, that he was very active

          3  involved in, that, you know, that whole exercise

          4  taught me that if you don't maintenance your

          5  buildings in the shortrun, you are going to lose

          6  them in the longrun. So, I wish there were a simple

          7  formula.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: I agree with that

          9  premise, it's just that when we start arguing over,

         10  in effect what become geographical arguments over

         11  desks versus roofs, that the kids who need desks are

         12  the bigger losers in effect, and over the long run

         13  you may be right, but in the short term we find that

         14  it's kind of hard to make stop gap efforts if we

         15  don't have the actual square footage.

         16                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I agree.

         17                 I mean, the issue ultimately, the

         18  economists have a wonderful phrase for this, it is

         19  called "the beggers' dilemma," you know, which fire

         20  do you put out first, which child do you feed first,

         21  and in so many of the decisions we have to make in

         22  this system --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: I think some of

         24  us have said over the years that it is better to

         25  have a leaky roof than no roof.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Linares.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.

          6                 Chancellor, the hearing today has

          7  helped a lot to clarify the complexity of the

          8  process, and to at least give us a sense of how the

          9  challenge is being approached and the fact that we

         10  still have a ways to go to address this. So, I will

         11  limit my question to two areas that I would hope

         12  will help the parents and the communities that send

         13  children to our school system to at least understand

         14  the nature of the problem now, because the way I

         15  perceive this situation to have been projected

         16  through the media is convoluted with the politics of

         17  what happened with the Board of Education, with our

         18  system, and what needs to happen with this, along

         19  with the context of the fiscal needs that a system

         20  has, and it leaves parents in our communities with

         21  the impression of chaos, and mismanagement, and

         22  Board of Education that has money and doesn't know

         23  what to do with it, and I would hope that perhaps

         24  you can explain to the parents in a brief way, why

         25  should they understand what we are discussing in
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          2  this hearing, number one.

          3                 And number two, this context also

          4  leaves the impression, particularly for the parents

          5  that have children in overcrowded districts, with

          6  deteriorating schools, that once again, because we

          7  are overcrowded in concentrated and given areas

          8  where the schools are the most dilapidated on the

          9  one hand, and also overcrowding has a devastating

         10  impact on what happens in, you know, in the

         11  education process, that somehow this situation that

         12  we are discussing in this hearing is a added problem

         13  that impacts particularly on overcrowded

         14  communities, and overcrowded schools and districts.

         15                 If you could speak to this particular

         16  area, speak to the parents that are sending the

         17  children and to the communities that have been

         18  suffering for so long, I think that that would

         19  suffice for me, in addition to the presentation

         20  which I appreciate very much, giving what still

         21  needs to be done to address the problems that we

         22  face because of how the plans are being implemented

         23  and the funding for these plans shift and so forth.

         24                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Councilman Linares,

         25  thank you for allowing me to address that.
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          2                 I guess there are just two things I

          3  would want the parents to take away from this. One,

          4  prices have risen, schools and construction have

          5  become dramatically more expensive, but there has

          6  been no corruption here, there has been no theft

          7  here. What we have seen is perhaps, as Councilman

          8  Berman says, Chairman Berman says, not the best

          9  reporting, and certainly not adequate fairness to

         10  Council members to be able to respond to these

         11  issues, but certainly a certain need is being

         12  addressed and the system is not ignoring where there

         13  are problems of overcrowding in particular.

         14                 This is a problem that the price

         15  rising exists throughout the City of New York in

         16  construction, and the issue of which schools are

         17  going to be built when is an issue that will concern

         18  the Board of Education, and they will be required to

         19  look at it and to vote on it.

         20                 A plan amendment requires many

         21  hearings but also requires a board vote, and the

         22  culminating moment here will be when the Board

         23  decides which projects to put off, but not which

         24  projects not to do, and I think that is important,

         25  too. But I appreciate your giving me that
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          2  opportunity.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Linares.

          5                 Chancellor, Mr. Shorris, Patricia,

          6  thank you for your testimony.

          7                 Mr. Nelson is back. My apologies.

          8                 Mr. Nelson, I thought you were out of

          9  the room.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chair.

         12                 Mr. Chancellor, you come from the

         13  private sector, it is no secret, if there was a 1.9

         14  or 1.5, 2.2, whatever it is, billion shortfall,

         15  would you have handled it any differently than you

         16  are handling it say as the Chancellor of the City of

         17  New York?

         18                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: The constraints that

         19  one has in this job are obviously radically

         20  different than the constraints one has in the

         21  private sector. What I would like to think is that

         22  the same degree of professionalism and the same

         23  degree of objectivity that I tried to bring to this

         24  presentation is what we would do in the private

         25  sector as well. In trying to make changes I feel
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          2  very confident that we are on the right course to

          3  change the structure and the process. We are

          4  constrained by what the law requires, and as has

          5  been pointed out to me, the law is the law and we

          6  will obey it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Right, because

          8  you could imagine what the Board of Directors would

          9  do, I would think much like the people of the City

         10  of New York are in this case.

         11                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: I think the reaction

         12  would be not terribly dissimilar to the reaction I

         13  have had here at the Council.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Fine. And I

         15  missed some of it, I am sure. The question is how

         16  could it happen? It seems to me there should be

         17  accountability. I know we don't necessarily have to

         18  cut off heads, but if for no other reason there has

         19  to be some penalties, if no other reason, to prevent

         20  this from happening in the future, I mean, if people

         21  could just know that they could make these errors

         22  and go on with it, what would prevent them from

         23  doing it say in the next five year plan or the next

         24  or so on like that, if the Mayor and the Council had

         25  the authority, then you could blame ourselves, and
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          2  maybe we will be doing that some day, hopefully not,

          3  so that's why I was asking you to compare and

          4  contrast this cosmology between the Board as a

          5  business person and as a Chancellor.

          6                 Just one last question, too. Has an

          7  MOU between the Board and SCA, had it been entered

          8  into -- or has one been entered into rather,

          9  delineating the roles of each in a capital

         10  construction process? And didn't the enabling

         11  legislation that created the SCA refer to such an

         12  MOU, and I guess the main question with this would

         13  be, why is the Board -- why is it the Board's

         14  position that such an MOU was unnecessary?

         15                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Let me try all three

         16  parts of that question first.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         18                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Just as an addendum

         19  to what your earlier question was, how would a

         20  private sector institution deal with this? I think

         21  one thing that you do is you go to the top rated

         22  outside consultant that you could find to help you

         23  work through to make sure that you don't get

         24  erroneous estimates again, and that is what we have

         25  done in retaining O'Brien Kreisberg, and that is the
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          2  same entity that, you know, the larger developers

          3  would retain. They are well known, they are the

          4  Cadilac in the industry and it gives me confidence

          5  to know that they are on board and will be assisting

          6  us as we go through this.

          7                 The memorandum of understanding is

          8  something that I had asked for at my very first

          9  School Construction Authority meeting as a trustee,

         10  and I have been the one pounding the table for it.

         11                 We gave them -- I mean, I won't go

         12  through the he said - we said. A draft was given

         13  early on to my colleagues at the School Construction

         14  Authority, there was a great deal of discussion back

         15  and forth. I believe I received a draft back at

         16  strong request, I think it was May or June. It has

         17  been with me for, I would say six weeks, and shall

         18  we say it is still a far cry from what I think we

         19  need, but the ball has moved dramatically, because I

         20  can only tell you that until this little exchange

         21  now that I set in motion, there had been no MOU, no

         22  MOU draft, so it was not the position, certainly not

         23  my position that we do not need this, quite the

         24  contrary.

         25                 It has been my position since I was
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          2  chair of the Bar Association Committee on Education

          3  that we do need this.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I just would

          5  have loved to have seen your reaction when you first

          6  heard this, and what you said to your staff, because

          7  I imagine it was a lot less calm than you are right

          8  now.

          9                 And the last thing, I don't know

         10  whether you brought this up before, when do you

         11  think we will get the entire 411 on this, really

         12  what created the fiasco?

         13                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Well, we made the

         14  long presentation today to sort of set out how we

         15  think we got here, and I am not sure fiasco is quite

         16  how I would have described it. My hope is that with

         17  the plan amendment we will be in a better position

         18  going forward, my hope is that we will have a plan

         19  amendment shortly.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         21                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Nelson.

         24                 Now, Chancellor, Ms. Zedalis, Deputy

         25  Chancellor, thank you very much.
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          2                 CHANCELLOR LEVY: Thank you for your

          3  courtesy and patience.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: School

          5  Construction Authority. Mr. Riverso.

          6                 Good afternoon, Mr. Riverso. First of

          7  all, identify yourself for our record, please.

          8                 MR. RIVERSO: My name is Milo Riverso,

          9  I am President and CEO of the New York City School

         10  Construction Authority.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It's good to see

         12  you, Milo.

         13                 MR. RIVERSO: It is a pleasure to see

         14  you also, Chairman.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you.

         16                 Do you have a statement, sir?

         17                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes, I do.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Please proceed.

         19                 MR. RIVERSO: Good afternoon,

         20  Chairpersons Wooten, Berman, Sabini, and members of

         21  the City Council. I am pleased to be here today to

         22  discuss School Construction process.

         23                 The New York City School Construction

         24  Authority was created in 1988 by the New York State

         25  Legislature to manage the design and construction of
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          2  new schools and additions, as well as the

          3  renovations of New York City's 1,400 public school

          4  buildings.

          5                 The SCA is governed by three

          6  trustees, the Chairman, Howard Wilson, appointed by

          7  the Mayor, Charles Stillman, the Governor's

          8  appointee, and Harold Levy, the Schools' Chancellor.

          9                 The Board of Education (BOE) plans

         10  and identifies new school construction and major

         11  repair and renovation projects in the five-year

         12  capital plan. The BOE decides which schools are to

         13  be build and repaired. The five-year plan identifies

         14  the projects and provides cost estimates for those

         15  projects.

         16                 In effect, the BOE develops a plan

         17  and the SCA executes portions of it with the

         18  direction and authorization from the BOE.

         19                 When a capital improvement project is

         20  authorized by the BOE and given to the SCA for

         21  execution, the project is given to the SCA's A and E

         22  Department for scoping. If the estimate for the

         23  project based on the scope is greater ten percent

         24  over the Board of Ed's plan estimate, it is returned

         25  to the Board of Ed for approval and funding.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            134

          1  FINANCE/EDUCATION/LANDMARKS

          2                 Prior to my joining the SCA, the

          3  existing procedure dictated that when the project

          4  design estimate exceeded the second estimate after

          5  the scope estimate, exceeds the Board of Ed

          6  approval, approved authorized amount by greater than

          7  ten percent, the project was returned to the Board

          8  of Ed for approval and funding.

          9                 Since the time the SCA and Board of

         10  Ed have jointly implemented a procedure to help

         11  streamline the process, establishing criteria for

         12  projects that exceed the Board of Ed's approved

         13  authorized amount.

         14                 For example, if the design estimate

         15  is 20 percent greater than the prior BOE approved

         16  authorized amount for projects less than $100,000,

         17  or ten percent greater than the prior BOE approved

         18  authorized amount for projects falling within the

         19  range of 100,000 to 2.5 million, or five percent

         20  greater than BOE approved authorized amounts for

         21  projects over 2.5 million. Those projects are

         22  returned to the Board of Ed for approval and

         23  additional funding.

         24                 If open bids are greater than ten

         25  percent of the prior BOE approved authorized amount,
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          2  again they are returned to the Board of Ed for

          3  approval and additional funding.

          4                 From time to time, in order to avoid

          5  delay, the SCA may move a project through design to

          6  bid directly without going to the Board of Ed for

          7  approval. However, a project that exceeds the prior

          8  BOE approved authorized amount is never awarded

          9  without BOE approval and funding.

         10                 In addition, if change orders accrue

         11  above the ten percent BOE authorized allowance, they

         12  are returned to the BOE for funding approval.

         13                 As you can see, at each and every

         14  phase, increases in costs are identified and

         15  approval by the Board of Education is required

         16  before a project can be awarded.

         17                 In addition, scopes are submitted to

         18  BOE for review and comment.

         19                 For capacity projects, the SCA

         20  provides estimates at the feasibility phase, the

         21  preschematic design phase, the schematic design

         22  phase, the preliminary design, the 50 percent design

         23  and the 100 percent final design.

         24                 At the request of the BOE, the SCA

         25  submits a CP request to BOE at the preliminary
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          2  design phase.

          3                 At the award phase a supplemental CP

          4  request is submitted to BOE when necessary. The BOE

          5  receives the CP requests, reviews them and submits

          6  them to OMB.

          7                 The SCA recently performed a plan

          8  analysis of major categories for FY 2000 and 2001,

          9  the first two years of the current BOE five-year

         10  plan.

         11                 This analysis indicates that to date

         12  the SCA has awarded 35 capacity projects, which have

         13  resulted in 398 million of construction costs, above

         14  the estimates carried in the BOE five-year capital

         15  plan. Approximately 100 million of construction

         16  costs of non-capacity projects above the BOE's plan

         17  estimate.

         18                 There are a number of reasons for the

         19  rise in construction costs, that include changes in

         20  room planning standards that have increased the per

         21  square foot requirements per pupil. Some of these

         22  changes are a Citywide special education component

         23  that was added to each new school in 1999.

         24                 In the 1998, the addition of

         25  emergency generator transfer switch rooms in 1997
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          2  through the wall air conditioning was replaced with

          3  central AC.

          4                 In 1997, the number of elevators was

          5  increased from one to two, and in 1996 the addition

          6  of telephone and electrical closets, RPZ rooms and

          7  LAN rooms.

          8                 Unforeseen environmental and other

          9  site conditions for the construction of new

         10  buildings have also increased.

         11                 For older buildings undergoing

         12  renovations, unknown conditions such as asbestos,

         13  structural deficiencies, facade deficiencies and

         14  pre-existing Department of Building Violations have

         15  significantly changed the scope of a project, adding

         16  to the cost.

         17                 Finally, the cost of construction has

         18  risen overall due to the current market -- if you

         19  don't mind, Chair people, I would like to skip this

         20  paragraph because the Chancellor utilized it in his

         21  presentation, and I think it covered the increase in

         22  cost of construction quite adequately.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: By all means,

         24  certainly.

         25                 MR. RIVERSO: Yet, the SCA has
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          2  continued to fulfill its mission. This year, for the

          3  first time in its history, the SCA is proud to say

          4  that with minimal exceptions, all of the FY 2000 and

          5  2001 capital improvement projects assigned to the

          6  SCA by the Board of Ed in the five-year plan have

          7  been executed.

          8                 Since its inception, the SCA has

          9  delivered over 121 new schools, additions, and

         10  mini-schools, 76 major modernizations and more than

         11  6,000 capital improvement projects, including

         12  hundreds of new roofs, thousands of new windows and

         13  miles of new plumbing and wiring.

         14                 Under the SCA's current leadership,

         15  the school openings for 1997 through 2000 have

         16  produced 60,000 new seats; all 100 percent complete

         17  by school opening.

         18                 The SCA has replaced coal-burning

         19  boilers with state-of-the-art heating systems at

         20  hundreds of schools and provided the New York City

         21  public system with 107,000 new seats.

         22                 More than 52 percent of these seats

         23  have been delivered during the last four years. As

         24  of today, the SCA has an additional 27,569 new seats

         25  under construction, and has successfully eliminated
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          2  all the coal-fired boilers from the school system.

          3                 We are proud of our record, and at

          4  this time I would be happy to answer any questions

          5  that you may have.

          6                 I would like to answer the first

          7  question, that under no knowledge do I have, or has

          8  my Office of Inspector General, expressed that there

          9  is any criminal or any other decisive means involved

         10  in this $1.5 billion issue.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Milo,

         12  that is very comforting.

         13                 May I ask several questions?

         14                 How much of the $1.9 billion

         15  shortfall in the current five-year plan, in your

         16  opinion, or in the School Construction Authority's

         17  opinion, is due to escalating construction costs?

         18                 MR. RIVERSO: It's a difficult item to

         19  put your finger on, because there are all these

         20  factors changing at once.

         21                 The school construction costs are

         22  increasing, New York City is a very robust economy

         23  right now, and the construction market. But you are

         24  also increasing the square foot per pupil. When I

         25  look at the 33 or 35 projects that we have done to
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          2  date, we are building 400,000 more square feet due

          3  to room planning changes, room planning standards

          4  changes, for number of square feet per pupil.

          5                 That is a lot of square feet, that

          6  cold be four or five new schools alone.

          7                 So all of these items are going on at

          8  once, but I would say at least 50 percent, if not

          9  more, is due to the heated economy.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Let me understand

         11  this.

         12                 You are saying 50 percent of it, yet,

         13  Mr. Shorris and the Chancellor indicated that they

         14  said it was all attributable to increased

         15  construction costs. You feel it is only 50 percent?

         16                 MR. RIVERSO: At least 50 percent.

         17  Everybody has an opinion on it, and that happens to

         18  be mine.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And of the $970

         20  million that was in the prior plan that was rolled

         21  over, was that cost increased when it was put into

         22  the new plan?

         23                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, actually the new

         24  plan, the roll over project is, the number is I

         25  think 1.1 billion, and it lists projects in the new
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          2  plan, it lists number of seats, but has no cost

          3  information. There is no cost information for each

          4  individual project.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Let me understand

          6  this.

          7                 So, in other words, the $970 million

          8  is not included in this $7 billion plan?

          9                 MR. RIVERSO: It is included in the $7

         10  billion plan.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: But not costed

         12  out?

         13                 MR. RIVERSO: But not costed out per

         14  project, it's just a lump number with a group of

         15  schools with a number of students per school.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, was the

         17  $972 million then a sufficient amount to do the

         18  rollover and completion obligations?

         19                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, the completion

         20  cost is something totally different from the

         21  rollover. I have never analyzed the rollover project

         22  to determine if the 1.1 billion was enough to do the

         23  rollover. Completion costs are very different than

         24  the rollovers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I am learning.
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          2                 MR. RIVERSO: The rollovers are the

          3  capacity projects that the Board of Ed picked from

          4  the second plan so they didn't get built, and put

          5  them in the third plan in this lumped category.

          6                 Do you want me to repeat that?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes.

          8                 MR. RIVERSO: The rollover projects

          9  are the group of schools that did not get built in

         10  the second five-year plan, and they were put into

         11  the third five-year plan in this lumped category, it

         12  said the number of students per school, and had the

         13  total cost at the bottom as being $1.1 billion.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: So they did end

         15  up in two plans.

         16                 MR. RIVERSO: They were rolled over

         17  from the second plan to the first plan.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Were there

         19  indications that there were a rollover?

         20                 MR. RIVERSO: While we were in the

         21  second plan? Or when they adopted the third plan?

         22                 In the third plan it clearly lists

         23  that these are rolled over, and this is the list of

         24  schools and we are putting $1.1 billion against it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Many times there
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          2  were questions raised by the Education Committee on

          3  the completion of plans that were in since the

          4  inception had we completed, how did the rollover

          5  plan end up in the second or third or fourth plan,

          6  how was that listed? You had it in plan A and if you

          7  didn't do a completion in plan A, how did it show up

          8  in plan B?

          9                 MR. RIVERSO: When the Board of Ed

         10  created the five-year plan, they would take the

         11  projects that weren't done in A and put them in B.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Were there a

         13  breakdown on the amount of money as it related from

         14  the first plan to the second plan?

         15                 MR. RIVERSO: The money wasn't rolled

         16  over, just the projects were.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me.

         18  Forgive my lack of understanding but the money

         19  wasn't rolled over, what was the expectation that

         20  the plan or the projects would be completed? Did

         21  they therefore take money out of the second-year

         22  plan?

         23                 MR. RIVERSO: Like, for instance, we

         24  are in the third five-year plan. Out of the $7

         25  billion, they have 1.1 billion of it to complete
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          2  second plan capacity projects.

          3                 I don't want to use the word

          4  complete, completion costs are very different. To

          5  start and complete a series of second five-year plan

          6  projects. Because completion costs are very

          7  different than rollover costs.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, if, in

          9  fact, under those circumstances, the rollover costs

         10  for the last five-year plan was $972 million; is

         11  that correct?

         12                 MR. RIVERSO: For some reason I have

         13  it at 1.1 billion.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, let's

         15  take 1.1 billion.

         16                 What is the anticipated completion

         17  cost?

         18                 MR. RIVERSO: The completion cost in

         19  my mind, again, I asked for clarification back when

         20  we were asked to review the plan. But in my mind,

         21  completion costs are the costs to complete all the

         22  projects that were started let's say in the last

         23  year of the five-year plan, and need change order,

         24  contingency money and things like that associated

         25  with the project.
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          2                 So, in other words, when you end the

          3  second five-year plan, you don't just stop all the

          4  construction projects. Most of them, because of the

          5  big crunching period, MTP, which is the start date,

          6  they get a start date for construction a month

          7  before the plan ends. So, if you are starting

          8  construction for all these projects a month before

          9  the plan ends, they will go on for a year or two,

         10  and you will have to budget the money for the soft

         11  costs and for the contingency for change orders to

         12  complete those projects, because you obligated all

         13  of the second five-year plan funds.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, that begs

         15  the question, was that in fact budgeted for?

         16                 MR. RIVERSO: The third five-year plan

         17  I think had a small number of 13 million or -- I

         18  think after the official plan was approved we got

         19  further breakdowns which were unofficial that

         20  brought it up to like 31 million.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Can I assume that

         22  was a wholly inadequate amount of money?

         23                 MR. RIVERSO: My estimate during the

         24  review process of the plan was 400 to 500 million.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So they budgeted
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          2  approximately 30 million for a plan that should have

          3  been about 400 million?

          4                 MR. RIVERSO: In my calculations, yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Milo, am I safe

          6  in assuming, therefore, that under that type of

          7  process, the five-year plan is doomed to failure? I

          8  mean, you can never catch up if we can't deal with

          9  it.

         10                 MR. RIVERSO: The catching up will be

         11  difficult to do because you are losing ground. At

         12  the end of the third five-year plan you will have

         13  another list of projects that could not be complete

         14  because the money will be inadequate.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you for

         16  your candor.

         17                 Are the current estimates of the

         18  capital plan cost based, in your opinion, on a

         19  reasonable methodology, and the best information

         20  reasonably available? Again, as I asked the

         21  Chancellor, there is the question of the cost of

         22  $385 a square foot for new capacity projects in the

         23  five-year plan; can I have your opinion on that,

         24  please, sir?

         25                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.
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          2                 Again, I only found out about the 385

          3  number probably in the last couple of days in

          4  meetings with the Chancellor, and we had wanted to

          5  set up meetings when we reviewed the plan and had

          6  our comments and we never got that opportunity to

          7  discuss it.

          8                 But $300 a square foot, and I got the

          9  benefit of hindsight now. I wasn't put on the spot

         10  to be asked for a number back then, but with the

         11  benefit of hindsight, new schools were coming in in

         12  that period at approximately $300 a square foot.

         13  There was a couple over, a couple under, but in that

         14  general range.

         15                 The addition were coming in well into

         16  $350 to $400 a square foot in the plan preparation

         17  period.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Over and above

         19  the original three?

         20                 MR. RIVERSO: No, no. I am saying the

         21  additions were coming in at $350 to $400 a square

         22  foot range, that are in the plan preparation period,

         23  and that is backing out numbers. Because when you do

         24  an addition, there is a lot of work in the existing

         25  building, those numbers are backing out the work in

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            148

          1  FINANCE/EDUCATION/LANDMARKS

          2  the existing building. That is like trying to purify

          3  exactly how much cost is for the addition itself.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: What would you

          5  say is a reasonable sum that should be included as

          6  the square foot cost?

          7                 MR. RIVERSO: With the knowledge we

          8  have today, we probably are going to be in the range

          9  of $450 to $485 a square foot.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So, that's a

         11  considerable difference.

         12                 MR. RIVERSO: And it is with

         13  contingencies. Because a project that I know the

         14  site on, and I have already entered scope and

         15  design, I know what the environment of clean-up is

         16  going to be, I can be more accurate than projects

         17  that are listed which still have not located sites.

         18                 My recommendation is always if you

         19  don't have a site, you have to carry a plus or minus

         20  40 percent contingency.

         21                 Once you know the site and you did a

         22  feasibility study and enter the preliminary

         23  schematics of a design, you get it down to 30

         24  percent. But by the time you finish the design

         25  estimate and you are going out to bid an award, I
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          2  would carry 20 percent, and after you award the

          3  project, you should carry about 10 percent at that

          4  point.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Bottom line, it

          6  seems to me that carrying the cost of $385 a square

          7  foot, value engineering notwithstanding, is just not

          8  realistic. You are really literally begging for cost

          9  overruns from the very inception.

         10                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, on the additions I

         11  think it was clearly inadequate, and I think some of

         12  the historical data shows that.

         13                 On the new schools it was marginal,

         14  because even some of the $300 a square foot numbers

         15  were for modular schools, and there was a move in

         16  place to stop building modular construction and go

         17  back to the old spec of a new school. And knowing

         18  that we should have increased the cost, if you

         19  didn't want to build modular anymore.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: One more

         21  question.

         22                 Milo, can you tell me if any members

         23  of the Central Board or the Chancellor's Office,

         24  other than Pat, had access to the computer systems

         25  of the School Construction Authority, that include
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          2  both programmatic and financial information on the

          3  current five-year plan, and whether or not this

          4  system was in fact utilized?

          5                 MR. RIVERSO: Back in January or

          6  February of 1998 I was called down to the Board of

          7  Ed to appear before the Central Board, and I was

          8  raked over the coals pretty hard on them claiming

          9  that the SCA did not give them good information and

         10  access information. And I said, UFDSF, which is the

         11  School Facilities arm, which has all of our programs

         12  on their computers, and full access to everything

         13  that I have, and I run the authority, they pursued

         14  it further that they want hard-written reports.

         15                 We explained to them, Patricia from

         16  DSF and I, that the hardwritten reports for SCA were

         17  tremendous because we handle thousands of projects

         18  literally, and it would be a hand-truck on a monthly

         19  basis of reports, so they were more interested in

         20  looking up specific projects and the statuses of

         21  them, so I said if that is what you are looking for,

         22  then I will install computers into the Central

         23  Board's office, and the Board President at the time

         24  said, yes, that's what we want, and within 48 or 72

         25  hours we installed two computers -- well, we
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          2  installed our software on existing computers in the

          3  Board President's office I believe was one and in

          4  the separate office for all the other Board members.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Where was that

          6  located?

          7                 MR. RIVERSO: On the same floor as I

          8  think the Board President. Down at 110 Livingston

          9  Street.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So then the Board

         11  President and the Board members collectively had the

         12  ability to know exactly what the progress was that

         13  the School Construction Authority was making, and

         14  what projects were capable of being completed and

         15  when?

         16                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes, and all financial

         17  information, and how much it costs, and all that

         18  information.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Do you know as to

         20  whether or not, with the exception of -- well,

         21  perhaps even with Pat, as to whether or not that

         22  information was utilized in any discussions or

         23  conferences with you?

         24                 MR. RIVERSO: No. When I always read

         25  the newspapers and see the accusations being made,
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          2  at the time it was Deputy Chancellor Harry Spence,

          3  was making constant accusations about the SCA's

          4  financial reporting and stuff like that, I used to

          5  call for the reports on those two computers to see

          6  if they were ever accessed. They were never accessed

          7  to date, to today, after the two persons were

          8  trained and signed for the training in the

          9  installation back in February of '98.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: February of this

         11  year?

         12                 MR. RIVERSO: February of '98 is when

         13  they were trained.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: And it has never

         15  been accessed or utilized?

         16                 MR. RIVERSO: Never.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, thank

         18  you.

         19                 Thank you, Milo.

         20                 Ms. Wooten, then Mr. Sabini.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Does the Board

         22  involve you in any of the processes of producing the

         23  five-year plan in producing its estimates?

         24                 MR. RIVERSO: The Board does request

         25  estimating information --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I didn't say

          3  request, I said involve you?

          4                 MR. RIVERSO: Not me personally, but

          5  the estimating department within A and E has

          6  provided estimating information to the Board of

          7  Education, which I think they utilized in their

          8  five-year planning process.

          9                 We don't specifically discuss how it

         10  is going to be utilized, what is going to be

         11  utilized, and the things like that, but they do

         12  request certain information of us and we provide

         13  them with information.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Are funds spent

         15  to date under the capital plan properly accounted

         16  for, or were the funds from the prior capital plan

         17  used to pay for projects in current capital plan?

         18  And if so, were these funds properly accounted for?

         19                 MR. RIVERSO: Can you clarify that

         20  question?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I want to know if

         22  the funds to this date, because you have added in

         23  the rollover concept, I wanted to know to this date

         24  have they been properly accounted for from one plan

         25  to another?
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          2                 MR. RIVERSO: We do close out our

          3  books at the end of the second five-year plan, and

          4  move into the third five-year plan.

          5                 I am struggling with the question.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I think what I am

          7  trying to say, I don't want to put anyone into a

          8  position, you know, I am trying to allude back to,

          9  you said the 50 percent, you know, you could move in

         10  the category of being in the process of overruns,

         11  because the costs are going up.

         12                 MR. RIVERSO: Because of the market,

         13  right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: But I am just a

         15  little concerned about that additional 50 percent,

         16  what categories does it fall in? Because I was led

         17  to believe that everything was just rolled over, and

         18  you said it may have been rolled over because of

         19  incompletion, but the money preceded its own that

         20  had been allocated for, that's why I had asked the

         21  Chancellor for a percentage on what he felt could

         22  fall in the rollover category.

         23                 MR. RIVERSO: I think you are talking

         24  about the percentage of the whole amount?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Well, I want to
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          2  go, you know, to me today it was presented plan by

          3  plan and a rollover process.

          4                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, there are other

          5  costs -- I think I understand what you are saying.

          6  There are other costs other than new projects

          7  running over. There is the completion cost for the

          8  old five-year plan project.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Excuse me, I

         10  didn't hear you.

         11                 MR. RIVERSO: There are other costs

         12  other than these new projects running over that

         13  weren't accounted for in the plan. There are

         14  completion costs for the old second five-year plan

         15  projects, which the SCA I think to date is at about

         16  approximately $185 million, and DDC has also a large

         17  portion of completion costs for the second five-year

         18  plan.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: How much has been

         20  budgeted for that?

         21                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, that was the $31

         22  million number, or 13 that has grown to 31, that I

         23  responded to Chairman Berman before.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: It went from 13

         25  to 185?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            156

          1  FINANCE/EDUCATION/LANDMARKS

          2                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

          3                 MR. RIVERSO: It's moving higher?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: It will move

          5  higher?

          6                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Is that a

          8  realistic kind of concept?

          9                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, like I said, I had

         10  estimated back in the spring of '98 to be a 400 to

         11  500 million dollar number, so incurring 185 of that

         12  during the first two years is realistic.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: From your

         14  presentation, in the process of reporting to the

         15  relevant parties, is it adequate to ensure proper

         16  monitoring of the status of the capital plan?

         17                 MR. RIVERSO: The SCA, we are not the

         18  creators of the plan, we are really not given the

         19  plan to execute. On an annual basis we are given

         20  assignments from the Board of Ed, and you remember,

         21  now the Board of Ed has three or four implementers.

         22  It has the Board of Ed themselves doing work, it has

         23  DDC doing work, it has NYPA doing work. So, we are

         24  given a portion of the annual plan, it doesn't

         25  always match the adopted five-year plan, so we
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          2  really do not keep track according to the five-year

          3  plan.

          4                 We keep track according to the Board

          5  of Ed approval, and the latest approval. And we

          6  inform them of any step along the way of any cost

          7  increases, and they approve it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: We, as the

          9  Education Committee, have had many, many dialogues

         10  as it relates, and I know you remember I always ask

         11  if we have completed this plan and are moving on to

         12  the other one.

         13                 MR. RIVERSO: I remember the question.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: How much money,

         15  you know, are we falling short of, and I trust that

         16  you gave me the proper answer?

         17                 MR. RIVERSO: I did give you the

         18  proper answers.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: And I am

         20  competent that in your presentation that I believe

         21  you did, but I am just a little confused about the

         22  50 percent, the 13 now up to 195; am I correct?

         23                 MR. RIVERSO: 185 --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: 185.

         25                 MR. RIVERSO: Just for that category,
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          2  there are other categories also.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Are there other

          4  categories?

          5                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: What are they?

          7                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, like I said, there

          8  is DDC with their numbers, which I am not 100

          9  percent privy to, but I understand they are large.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Do they bring

         11  these numbers, agencies together in their account?

         12                 MR. RIVERSO: The SCA ones, because we

         13  are not the tying link, the Board of Ed would have

         14  those numbers.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Do you believe

         16  that somehow or another there was a mix-up in all

         17  these different kinds of categories that they have

         18  to work in, when it came to these types of monies in

         19  such a wide estimate?

         20                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes, there is definitely

         21  a problem.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I really don't

         23  mean to put anybody in any positions and in any

         24  spots, but, you know, my colleague he left, but he

         25  talked about appropriation, misappropriation, the
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          2  concept of what it leads one to believe. I am trying

          3  to be very cautious as to how I raised the question;

          4  was the current five-year plan out of balance before

          5  it started?

          6                 MR. RIVERSO: Was it out of? Pardon

          7  me?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Balance.

          9                 MR. RIVERSO: I think there were some

         10  real issues in it. The SCA raised real issues in it.

         11  We asked questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Are we still out

         13  of control?

         14                 MR. RIVERSO: I don't know if out of

         15  control is the word. Out of control would indicate

         16  that money is being misspent, and I don't believe

         17  that money is being misspent --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I didn't say

         19  misspent. I mean, you can be out of control and

         20  spending properly.

         21                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, I think this plan

         22  amendment and the methodology -- the Chancellor has

         23  now asked that the SCA be involved in the five-year

         24  plan document for the first time, and we have been

         25  asked yesterday to a meeting with the new consultant
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          2  that they hired and our staff, and I believe that

          3  the methodology that we are going to go about in

          4  producing this plan amendment will be the right

          5  methodology to produce an accurate document.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I believe a lot

          7  of things that were presented here today as the new

          8  kind of concept, eventually I hope it turns out

          9  better than what I hear is turning out, you know,

         10  because this whole concept on these plans was raised

         11  a long time ago by me, and I was very consistent in

         12  wanting to know, did we ever complete one of these

         13  plans. And now to come back years later to know that

         14  we are utilizing the concept for overspending

         15  because we never planned the proper amount of money

         16  in the first place, and that we are running in the

         17  red when we continue to make presentations of new

         18  plans -- you know, what would be the status of that

         19  200-2004? Already you say you are losing schools in

         20  Queens, but what is the real deal loss in 200-2004?

         21  I won't be around City Hall, but I am going to be

         22  around, and I would be anxious to know what the

         23  answer is going to be then.

         24                 MR. RIVERSO: We are going to get to

         25  the answer as soon as we produce the plan amendment,
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          2  because we are doing it now with the right

          3  engineering methodology, it's going to be a real

          4  accurate document, and you will know exactly what

          5  the impact is on 2004.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I also, and this

          7  will be my last question, when we get the proper

          8  information on what is taking place, who is

          9  responsible for rectifying by deleting, by assuming

         10  that there are projects that need to go forward and

         11  there are some that fall between the cracks.

         12                 I appreciate the new recommendation

         13  but it doesn't mean anything to me if it is not

         14  going to rectify something that has already taken

         15  place.

         16                 Have they asked you for

         17  recommendations of what you foresee as the person

         18  who is right there implementing the plan? Have there

         19  been a discussion with you --

         20                 MR. RIVERSO: The SCA has never been

         21  involved in determining which projects go forward

         22  and which ones don't or, you know, whether it is

         23  capacity or CIP. We do not. That is a product of the

         24  Board, and I believe the Central Board will have a

         25  lot of input on that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Sabini.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Thank you.

          5                 Dr. Riverso, I was pretty, I wouldn't

          6  say happy, but somewhat mollified by some of the

          7  earlier answers, but you have raised an issue here

          8  that have set off some alarms with me. Let me

          9  backtrack a little, and I notice that you didn't

         10  want to be asked the question about the repair

         11  issues that have come up in today's Daily News. The

         12  two to me that are the most egregious, the New

         13  Utrecht High School's flood prevention where the

         14  project is 61,571 percent over budget, which is a

         15  number I can't quite fathom, or that the exterior of

         16  the Concord Alternative High School in Staten Island

         17  would cost $26.2 million; can you tell us how that

         18  happens?

         19                 MR. RIVERSO: I can tell you in a

         20  generic form, not specifically to those two

         21  projects.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Okay.

         23                 MR. RIVERSO: If in the creation there

         24  was a complaint that there was water in the basement

         25  of a school somebody would put in a number not
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          2  knowing what's wrong against that problem. And then

          3  architects and engineers are hired to go out and

          4  look at the problem, and they come back and say this

          5  is a real big problem, we are going to have to dig

          6  up the foundation maybe and put perforated pipes

          7  around it for drainage purposes or install sump pits

          8  with large sump pumps and pipe it out a long ways,

          9  and at that point they develop an estimate and that

         10  estimate is forwarded to the Board of Ed and says do

         11  you want to go ahead with this, with the scope it is

         12  forwarded.

         13                 We forward the scope to the Board and

         14  we give a good engineering estimate with it, and at

         15  that point is usually the time it goes ahead. An

         16  increase like that wouldn't normally happen under a

         17  change order type condition, it is happening during

         18  the scope and design of the projects.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: The Deputy

         20  Chancellor said in his presentation that

         21  construction costs are based on SCA cost at the end

         22  of the last five-year plan, and then adjusted with a

         23  contingency and an OMB inflationary rate added on.

         24                 You testified that you thought that,

         25  without putting words in your mouth, 50 percent of
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          2  the shortfall was due to inflated cost, and I can

          3  assume that the converse of that is that 50 percent

          4  is bad planning?

          5                 MR. RIVERSO: Not necessarily.

          6                 When I was looking at the overage of

          7  a particular project, and this is a gutteral

          8  feeling, it is not based on hard line estimates, and

          9  something that we will get into very shortly, now

         10  that it has become the major topic. I had said at

         11  least 50 percent is due to the market conditions,

         12  and clearly, we are in a construction market that

         13  has inflationary trends larger than the normal OMB

         14  percentages that you reference, but that there are

         15  also mitigating factors, and I think the Chancellor

         16  and Deputy Chancellor's had enumerated them.

         17                 We are getting projects, very tight

         18  sites, we are going down three, four floors for

         19  basements and putting gymnasiums into basements, we

         20  are seeing a site where we are running 3,000 lineal

         21  feet of services into the site because there are no

         22  services on the site, or another site where we are

         23  building roadways and other factors like that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: So, it is not

         25  necessarily bad planning, but rather the
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          2  unanticipated consequences of odd sites, in some

          3  cases?

          4                 MR. RIVERSO: I think the sites have

          5  really gotten odder in this plan than in the

          6  previous plan.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: I know they have.

          8  We sit through the hearings.

          9                 MR. RIVERSO: And you hold the

         10  hearings and you push them through for us, and we

         11  appreciate that.

         12                 And then there were the per square

         13  foot increases also that contribute and they all

         14  contribute to it.

         15                 And, again, I don't subscribe to the

         16  theory that the eight percent was the proper

         17  contingency in a plan --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You think it

         19  should have been more?

         20                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Did you express

         22  that at the time?

         23                 MR. RIVERSO: I had asked for meetings

         24  to discuss the soft costs associated in the

         25  five-year plan, and how the estimates were coming up
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          2  and things of that nature.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Did you have

          4  those meetings?

          5                 MR. RIVERSO: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Well, it seems to

          7  me, if you are commissioned to do this --

          8                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, there is where you

          9  are getting into --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: No, I mean if you

         11  are commissioned to actually execute the

         12  construction.

         13                 MR. RIVERSO: Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: And you waive a

         15  flag that says there might be a problem here, that

         16  you are sort of an important person to listen to,

         17  and you don't feel you got listened to?

         18                 MR. RIVERSO: No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You mentioned

         20  something about cost of square foot per pupil. Now,

         21  don't we now, haven't we now started down the track

         22  of building specific buildings for early childhood

         23  where the square footage is smaller per pupil?

         24                 MR. RIVERSO: I don't know necessarily

         25  whether they are smaller per pupil.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Our recollection

          3  is that it is, and we have like three of them on

          4  line now that I know of, three or four.

          5                 MR. RIVERSO: It's something I would

          6  have to verify.

          7                 Actually, I have a chart here.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Okay.

          9                 I want to get back to the other

         10  question, because it is still kind of bothering me.

         11                 MR. RIVERSO: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You ask for these

         13  meetings. The Chancellor sits on your Board --

         14                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: What's the

         16  dynamic of a meeting if you as the Director, and

         17  there is a president, I guess Mr. Wilson --

         18                 MR. RIVERSO: Actually I am the

         19  president, Mr. Wilson is the chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: The chairman,

         21  okay.

         22                 MR. RIVERSO: And now we are talking

         23  the period of plan creation and when I was asking

         24  for these meetings was back in '98 before the

         25  present Chancellor.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Right.

          3                 MR. RIVERSO: We had the old

          4  Chancellor who never sat on the Board, he never came

          5  to the meetings.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Even though he

          7  was an ex-officio member?

          8                 MR. RIVERSO: He is not ex-officio. He

          9  is the trustee.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: But by virtue of

         11  his office.

         12                 MR. RIVERSO: By virtue of his office.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: That's what I

         14  meant when I said it. Ex-officio doesn't necessarily

         15  mean non-voting, it also means because of your

         16  office.

         17                 MR. RIVERSO: Right.

         18                 He used to send the Deputy

         19  Chancellor, which he wasn't always the -- well, no,

         20  we never had our meetings.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You know, it's

         22  funny, it is, but it is not because we are dealing

         23  with lots of money here, and we are dealing with the

         24  perception of people that their kids might have a

         25  school seat when they get to school in September,
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          2  and what I am hearing is in effect that two agencies

          3  that are supposed to be working in concert are in

          4  fact working sort of on the blind, that you had

          5  feelings that they weren't listening to, and their

          6  mission was to complete a document or purport to

          7  complete a document that had been voting on almost

          8  in a political setting, which all budgets are

          9  political, you learn that at NYU Graduate School. Is

         10  that sort of a fair characterization?

         11                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Well, it's nice

         13  that we got to this at 5:30.

         14                 MR. RIVERSO: I think the MOU will go

         15  a long ways towards cleaning that up.

         16                 I mean, once it is executed on paper,

         17  then the people have to make it happen also.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: In the capital

         19  plan that we are currently in, do you think there is

         20  adequate funding for site acquisition?

         21                 MR. RIVERSO: I know to date we have I

         22  think exceeded site acquisition by more than 100

         23  percent.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You have exceeded

         25  site acquisition by more than 100 percent?
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          2                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Does that mean

          4  you have doubled it or you have gone up by one

          5  percent over what you were supposed to?

          6                 MR. RIVERSO: I'm not 100 percent sure

          7  because I haven't looked at the numbers.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: But I mean when

          9  you used that term?

         10                 MR. RIVERSO: I think we are around 69

         11  million or something like that, when I think it may

         12  have been 15 million per year budgeted in the

         13  five-year plan.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You are at 69

         15  million now two and a half years into the five-year

         16  plan.

         17                 MR. RIVERSO: Two years.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Two years into

         19  the five-year plan.

         20                 MR. RIVERSO: Two years and 19 days.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: And you were

         22  budgeted for 15 million per plan -- per year for the

         23  plan?

         24                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: So you are
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          2  already over that, and the sites as we know are

          3  getting more scarce?

          4                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: And land doesn't

          6  get any cheaper in this City.

          7                 Do you feel there is inadequate

          8  funding for the feasibility studies in the current

          9  five-year plan?

         10                 MR. RIVERSO: I haven't looked at that

         11  issue per se. Feasibility studies I think are part

         12  of our A and E soft costs. It was one of the items

         13  that I also asked when we were reviewing the plan to

         14  sit down and talk about, and not talk about.

         15                 I think there is less soft costs in

         16  the plan than we requested, but on our CP requests

         17  we are asking for more and they are getting

         18  approved.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: And in the

         20  current five-year plan you think there is adequate

         21  funding for environmental review, which is an

         22  increasing problem -- we voted on it, I know.

         23                 MR. RIVERSO: It is something that

         24  given what we have experienced with the sites that

         25  we are looking at, I would have to take under review
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          2  and take a look at it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: I bet your guess

          4  is no?

          5                 MR. RIVERSO: I think you are right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: We are going to

          7  have a site next week that has had some

          8  environmental problems, or are we going to have a

          9  similar colloquy, or are you going to be able to

         10  tell us that they can build on that site?

         11                 MR. RIVERSO: We have never

         12  jeopardized the environmental review for lack of

         13  funds. The Board has always made the funds available

         14  for us to do the proper reviews. I believe when we

         15  come before you with a site, we have a safe, good

         16  environmental study.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: How can you then

         18  say that you don't have adequate funding in the

         19  five-year plan if you are telling me that you always

         20  have --

         21                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, we take it from

         22  other areas.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Like where?

         24                 MR. RIVERSO: I am not 100 percent

         25  where the Board --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: You have a

          3  budget, too, you have an internal budget as well.

          4                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, I have an internal

          5  budget, but my budget moves. I ask the Board where

          6  do you want me to take it from and they tell me

          7  where they want to take it from.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Well, Dr.

          9  Riverso, you have painted an interesting picture

         10  here, and I hope the members of the Committee that

         11  aren't here now find out what was said here,

         12  because, frankly, this part of the hearing was more

         13  enlightening than some of the earlier parts, and,

         14  you know, we are going to have to take more dramatic

         15  looks at this I think.

         16                 I subscribed before this hearing

         17  started to the fact that a lot of this was overruns,

         18  but if you are saying that our planning is flawed,

         19  then we have to take that.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: I just have one

         22  other question and then I am going to turn it over

         23  to Council Member Marshall.

         24                 We have talked over the years about

         25  new plans as it related to the times, have there
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          2  been a plan, new school plan, submitted to you along

          3  with the various projects as it related to some of

          4  the programs that was within the presentation today,

          5  some related to special ed, as it related to square

          6  footage, et cetera, and some of the other concepts

          7  that they had in mind for building; has there been

          8  in actuality a new program submitted to you when it

          9  comes to building schools?

         10                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, every time we get

         11  asked to build a school, we get a program of

         12  requirements from the Board, and we design the

         13  project.

         14                 There have been four revisions to the

         15  room planning standards, probably since, or since

         16  the planning phase of this five-year plan, so we

         17  have new planning standards, we have an increased

         18  square footage per pupil, and they come over on the

         19  program requirements and then we design the

         20  building.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Thank you.

         22                 Council Member Marshall.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair.

         25                 Good evening. What changes, if any,
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          2  do you think should be made in your information

          3  systems or your business process that would help to

          4  improve the formulation of your -- an execution of

          5  your capital plan, a sound capital plan?

          6                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, again, the SCA

          7  does not formulate the capital plan. We execute

          8  portions of it as it is sent over by the Board.

          9                 We have recently undergone a large

         10  project where we are doing our information systems

         11  within the Authority, and if all of the testing went

         12  right today, we should be live by Monday. And that

         13  new system will come on line, it will make reporting

         14  faster, less labor intensive, and give us I think a

         15  stronger analytical system. It is a modernized

         16  system called an enterprise resource planning

         17  system, and it will give us a lot of analytical

         18  ability. It will give us forecasting ability,

         19  forecast like things like the cost to complete,

         20  which we did anyway but we used to do it by hand,

         21  now we will do it by computer. I still think by hand

         22  might be better, but it's coming on line.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Right. In

         24  other words, you envision this new system that is

         25  coming in will improve your whole process?
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          2                 MR. RIVERSO: Well, it improves the

          3  process within the SCA, yes. It will make it more

          4  efficient.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, as a

          6  follow-up, would you be pushing for a role in the

          7  MOU?

          8                 MR. RIVERSO: Yes, the MOU originated

          9  out of the Moreland Commission recommendation that

         10  the MOU finally be executed as requested by law.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: That was

         12  about 11 years ago that it was proposed, right?

         13                 MR. RIVERSO: Right. And I believe

         14  there were several attempts in the early days

         15  between the two agencies to execute an MOU.

         16                 Moreland issued a report, I don't

         17  particularly know the date of the report. The

         18  Chancellor had somebody draw up a draft of it, the

         19  SCA reviewed the draft, and we forwarded it back to

         20  the Chancellor about two months ago, and pending

         21  comments back I hope we can move forward with an

         22  MOU.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I mean, I

         24  represent one of the most overcrowded school

         25  districts, 24 and 30, in this City, so I certainly
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          2  want to see those schools built.

          3                 MR. RIVERSO: And I want to build them

          4  for you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes. But we

          6  really don't want to get a bang like we just

          7  received. I know that you have legitimate expenses,

          8  but we want to be sure that the process is smooth,

          9  so that it doesn't look like we are way out of line

         10  in not doing what we plan to do. That's the reason

         11  for my question, we have got to look better.

         12                 MR. RIVERSO: I hear you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Get the job

         14  done.

         15                 MR. RIVERSO: We are getting them done

         16  very rapidly and good quality.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: In my

         18  district I am very, very pleased. We present a site,

         19  the Board comes, things move rapidly, and we are

         20  truly grateful because we have really a crowded,

         21  crowded, crowded school district. So, we appreciate

         22  any effort to rectify that and give those children

         23  their own seat.

         24                 Okay, thank you. Thank you, Madam

         25  Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Okay.

          3                 Greg Brooks, a member of the Central

          4  Board of Education, are you still in the house?

          5                 Milo, don't leave yet. We thank you

          6  very much for your testimony. I think that we need

          7  to revisit this again.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 Mr. Brooks is not in the house?

         10                 For the record, I would like to have

         11  a letter read into the record from the Department of

         12  Design and Construction via Counsel.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SABINI: Before we do

         14  that, Madam Chair, I just wanted to note that Terri

         15  Thompson, a Queens Board member, also submitted

         16  testimony, and we should insert that into the record

         17  as well. Thank you. And Greg Brooks, as was noted

         18  before.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: The Brooklyn

         20  representative from the Central Board.

         21                 MS. POPA: This is from Commissioner

         22  Kenneth Holden of the Department of Design and

         23  Construction.

         24                 DDC is providing you with data about

         25  DDC project costs and the status of DDC project
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          2  completions. As you may know, DDC manages more than

          3  900 capital projects and an annual capital budget of

          4  approximately $1.3 billion.

          5                 Since DDC was created in 1996, we

          6  believe the agency has been successful in completing

          7  projects in a timely and cost effective manner.

          8                 The following information concerning

          9  project costs and completions was published in the

         10  two recent Mayor's Management Reports, as prepared

         11  by the Mayor's Office of Operations.

         12                 The average percentage cost increase

         13  for completed construction contracts (excluding

         14  programmatic scope changes) is 4.6 percent in Fiscal

         15  Year '99, and 1.5 percent in Fiscal Year 2000.

         16                 The average percent cost increase for

         17  completed consultant design and construction

         18  supervision contracts (excluding programmatic scope

         19  changes) is 0.8 percent in Fiscal Year '99, and 1

         20  percent in Fiscal Year 2000.

         21                 Projects completed early and on time,

         22  72 percent in Fiscal Year '99, and 88 percent in

         23  Fiscal Year 2000.

         24                 Thank you for your consideration.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WOOTEN: Thank you very
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          2  much for your commentation, this concludes this

          3  hearing.

          4                 (The following testimony was read

          5  into the record.)

          6

          7  Written Testimony Of:

          8  Greg Brooks

          9  Member

         10  Board of Education

         11

         12                 Good afternoon, Committee Chairs and

         13  Council Members. Thank you for the opportunity to

         14  testify regarding the Board of Education's five-year

         15  capital plan. I come before you representing myself

         16  as Brooklyn member of the Board of Education and

         17  Brooklyn Borough President Howard Golden as his

         18  Executive Assistant.

         19                 The issue you are addressing today is

         20  of great importance to the children of the City of

         21  New York. The condition of our school facilities is

         22  critical to the Board's mission of providing a safe

         23  and inviting environment for the over one million

         24  children we serve. I am, therefore, pleased you have

         25  given this matter the attention it deserves.
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          2                 I would point out to you, however,

          3  that the matter before you today is not as

          4  revolutionary as some would make it.

          5                 In fact, ten years ago Brooklyn

          6  Borough President Howard Golden released a report

          7  entitled, "School Construction: A $790 Million Abuse

          8  of Authority."

          9                 This report clearly outlined the

         10  variance between the first five-year capital plan

         11  and actual expenditures. It outlined the problem

         12  with the School Construction Authority's moving

         13  projects without formal plan amendments adopted by

         14  the Board of Education and with approval of the

         15  Office of Management and Budget through Certificates

         16  to Proceed.

         17                 In 1991, the Borough President called

         18  for a formal audit of the capital construction plan.

         19  He sent this report to the New York State and City

         20  Comptrollers, the Office of Management and Budget

         21  and the New York City Council. He saw the issue as

         22  so important that he held a formal press conference

         23  announcing his findings.

         24                 The response from the two

         25  Comptrollers, OMB, the City Council and the media
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          2  was minimal. None saw it as important.

          3                 Further, I would remind you that the

          4  first five-year plan was adopted at $4.3 billion. At

          5  the end of the five years 89 projects estimated at

          6  $385 million were not completed and rolled into the

          7  second five-year plan which was adopted at $3.4

          8  billion.

          9                 At the end of the second five years

         10  136 projects estimated at $1.15 billion had to be

         11  rolled into the third plan. The fact that the third

         12  plan includes projects which will likely be rolled

         13  into the fourth plan should not surprise anyone who

         14  has followed this process over the past 12 years.

         15                 Yet, today, everyone is finding great

         16  controversy in a capital budget process that has

         17  been in place for over a decade. The process is not

         18  right. It should be better. But it should not be

         19  surprising to the Finance and Education Committees.

         20                 In fact, the routine question, "What

         21  did you know and when did you know it?" Could

         22  rightfully be asked of many in this room because the

         23  report I have with me today was distributed to many

         24  of you ten years ago.

         25                 Having been involved in writing the
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          2  report and now as a member of the Board of

          3  Education, I would like to offer you some of my

          4  insights.

          5                 First, the five-year planning process

          6  is abysmal but it is mandated by state legislation.

          7  In contrast to the Board's five-year budgeting

          8  process, the City annually adopts a four-year

          9  capital plan.

         10                 The first year of the plan represents

         11  actual funding and the outyears represent estimates.

         12  Those estimates change each year and they change

         13  with little fanfare.

         14                 Depending upon the budget document

         15  you review, you can track the Whitehall Ferry

         16  Terminal increasing from $33 million to $82 million

         17  and the Jamaica Health Center increase from $3.7

         18  million to $7.6 million.

         19                 I could go on with baseball stadiums

         20  and police precincts with similar patterns. All of

         21  these projects began with estimates that escalated

         22  dramatically across their construction cycles. Had

         23  the City been working from a five-year budget

         24  instead of its annually adopted plan, its budget

         25  condition would be similar to the Board's.
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          2                 Second, the amendment process for the

          3  five-year plan provides a disincentive to modify the

          4  budget. An amendment requires hearings in every

          5  affected district before there is a vote by the

          6  Central Board. Because the Board does not have the

          7  City's luxury of increasing funding for the plan,

          8  any increase to one project has to be offset by a

          9  decrease to another. The first two years of the plan

         10  provide further rationale for avoiding amendments.

         11  In the early stages of the plan, it is not clear

         12  which projects will"slip" because of environmental,

         13  real estate or other issues external to the Board.

         14                 Without such information, it is

         15  impossible to accurately predict which projects

         16  should be eliminated or moved to the next plan. Ten

         17  years ago, Borough President Golden recommended that

         18  the modification process required dramatic change.

         19  This recommendation has never been more timely.

         20                 Even though modifying the five-year

         21  plan is cumbersome, I believe the Chancellor must

         22  begin the process immediately. I am very concerned

         23  that staff members of School Facilities, the School

         24  Construction Authority, and the Office of Management

         25  and Budget are making decisions that are the
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          2  fiduciary responsibility of the members of the Board

          3  of Education. This practice must end immediately.

          4  This was the Borough President's recommendation ten

          5  years ago, and I stand by it today.

          6                 Finally, I want to convey that beyond

          7  the unwieldiness of managing a five-year budget, the

          8  issue before you is a reflection of priorities. As

          9  projects in the City's budget increased year after

         10  year, they have been funded because they were seen

         11  as important to the City.

         12                 When a stadium in Brooklyn was

         13  announced at $20 million and came in at $39 million,

         14  it was funded because it was seen as a project

         15  critical to the economy of Coney Island. Yet, when

         16  faced with similar increases in the costs of our

         17  schools, many cry foul. It is all a matter of

         18  priorities.

         19                 As you know, the administration and

         20  the Board together are seeking an audit of the

         21  five-year plan. I believe such an audit is as

         22  important today as it was ten years ago when it was

         23  first recommended by the Borough President. I

         24  believe the state should modify the five-year

         25  planning process as I did ten years ago. I believe
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          2  that the state should amend the budget modification

          3  process as I did ten years ago.

          4                 However, none of these issues should

          5  deflect from the fact that our children deserve a

          6  better learning environment. As we move forward in

          7  this process over the next few months, I urge you

          8  not to allow a faulty system established by state

          9  legislation to punish our city's children.

         10                 As a Board member, I seek your

         11  partnership in correcting the flaws in the system

         12  and improving the conditions of our public schools.

         13                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         14  present my views on this critical matter, which

         15  after a decade is receiving the attention it

         16  warrants.

         17

         18

         19  Written Testimony Of:

         20  Terri Thomson

         21  Board Member

         22

         23                 For a moment, I want to focus on the

         24  needs that brought us to this point in time because

         25  they are the needs of children. Across the city,
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          2  there are districts where the number of seats are

          3  too few for the number of children who must be

          4  educated.

          5                 The tragedy is that this situation is

          6  not new. The crime is that no one has been able to

          7  make a case compelling enough to make school

          8  construction a priority areas where there are

          9  sufficient schools are not immune from this capital

         10  crisis. Many of their schools are old and in need of

         11  costly repair, made worse by years of neglect

         12  because there were too few dollars and school

         13  facilities always seem to be an expendable budget

         14  item.

         15                 It is no secret that my borough, the

         16  Borough of Queens, has critical capital needs. It is

         17  a borough in which there are 27,000 more children

         18  than we have the capacity in our school buildings to

         19  educate.

         20                 We put them in trailers, shower

         21  rooms, dismantle libraries and art rooms, carve out

         22  space in gymnasiums and lunchrooms, cut the high

         23  school day to cram more students into the same space

         24  and accept large class size as the norm in spite of

         25  all the educational research that points to small
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          2  classes, especially in the early grades, as an

          3  important factor in student achievement.

          4                 In Queens, I see funds being sent

          5  back to Albany. We can't use them for early class

          6  size reduction because there is no room in the

          7  building for the extra classrooms and the

          8  legislation won't allow us to use the dollars to

          9  bring in another teacher to reduce teacher-student

         10  ratio.

         11                 And there is more bad news - if we

         12  build all the schools planned for Queens in the

         13  Capital Plan, we will only keep from slipping

         14  further back; there will be no ground gained because

         15  of growing enrollments.

         16                 Faced with these realities and the

         17  fact that the original $11 B plan was built on a

         18  substantial portion of "high risk" money that might

         19  never be realized, much time and energy went into

         20  developing the current $7

         21  B plan. There were a lot of hard choices that had to

         22  be made and, sadly, many needs deferred - again.

         23                 It was a bare bones plan, never meant

         24  to be one that would address all the facilities

         25  needs but only to make schools safe and build where
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          2  there was need. Now, a little more than two years

          3  after adopting the plan, there is a $1.5B gap

          4  between the estimates in the Plan and the actual

          5  cost of projects. How did this happen? How could it

          6  happen? To answer questions such as those, I asked

          7  for an audit of the situation as well as a

          8  line-by-line accounting of projects. We are in the

          9  process now of preparing an agreement and scope for

         10  a joint audit with the City.

         11                 From the line-by-line accounting, we

         12  can draw several conclusions. First, it is apparent

         13  that higher construction costs played havoc with the

         14  estimates in the plan. At a recent meeting, the

         15  members of the Board's Finance Committee confirmed

         16  that this had been their experience in the private

         17  sector, a fact documented by the Chancellor as part

         18  of his presentation to the Board. We have heard that

         19  the sharp and sudden increase in construction costs

         20  have caught everyone off-guard, private and public

         21  entities alike, and that, with a $7B plan, the

         22  difference we see should not be surprising.

         23                 It is very clear that we have applied

         24  a contingency figure that is much too low. This is

         25  especially true when we are dealing with new sites
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          2  where conditions will require design accommodations

          3  or environmental remediation. With sites in short

          4  supply and choices limited, it is prudent planning

          5  to expect the worst because we most often find

          6  ourselves "settling for" and making the best of a

          7  situation when it comes to school sites. Making

          8  accommodations and performing remediation takes

          9  money even before a shovel goes into the ground.

         10                 I would also suggest that we are

         11  dealing with a flawed process in dealing with a

         12  capital plan. This process, mandated by legislation,

         13  has long-term plans made without the benefit of

         14  information on sites or costs. In the past, the

         15  solution was to roll projects over into the next

         16  plan. With tis third five-year capital plan, we see

         17  that there is never a catch-up and that the process

         18  needs to be redesigned from its current "pig in a

         19  poke" design to one that conforms to reality.

         20                 Changes need to be made in the

         21  legislation that requires a five-year capital plan

         22  and its system of amendments. Yes, we must do a

         23  better job of more accurate estimation up front to

         24  the best of our abilities. And, yes, we must put the

         25  needs of the children first.
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          2                 The bottom line is, there is not

          3  enough money allocated for the City's capital needs.

          4  Never is, never was. This capital plan scratches the

          5  surface in putting our school buildings in good

          6  shape and allows us, basically, to stand still in

          7  meeting the needs for creation of new seats. For too

          8  long, over decades, we have been penny wise and

          9  pound foolish by not investing in the infrastructure

         10  of our schools. The bill has come due.

         11                 Let us not continue to fool ourselves

         12  into thinking that capital needs are only bricks and

         13  mortar and, as such, not an important element in

         14  student achievement. Justice Leland Degrasse, in his

         15  landmark decision, was on target when he said that

         16  New York City's school facilities are not adequate

         17  to afford students a sound basic education and he

         18  made the causal link between poor facilities and

         19  student performance.

         20                 If you are in a class of maximum size

         21  and need help to understand the concept, the

         22  language, the information, the fact that your school

         23  is overcrowded is hurting your chances of passing

         24  the "high stakes" tests. Yes, we have raised the

         25  standards and expect more of our students, teachers
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          2  and administrators. There is a price to pay for

          3  those higher expectations.

          4                 And we are being dishonest with

          5  ourselves if we do not acknowledge that our children

          6  have been shortchanged for too long. It is important

          7  that we all continue to focus on solutions, not

          8  blame, and work together to advocate for putting the

          9  needs of the children first.

         10                 Let this not be our legacy: Crumbling

         11  schools, overcrowded and makeshift classrooms.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 5:40 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified
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